Koninklijke Sterrenwacht van België Observatoire royal de Belgique Royal Observatory of Belgium





### Jaarverslag 2015 Rapport Annuel 2015 Annual Report 2015

Cover illustration: Screen shot of the website created for the partial solar eclipseof March 20, 2015 (updated with results by Petra Vanlommel, STCE, ROB)

De activiteiten beschreven in dit verslag werden ondersteund door Les activités décrites dans ce rapport ont été soutenues par The activities described in this report were supported by

De POD Wetenschapsbeleid Le SPP Politique Scientifique The Belgian Science Policy



De Nationale Loterij La Loterie Nationale The National Lottery

Nationale Loterij creëert kansen Créateur de chances Loterie Nationale

Het Europees Ruimtevaartagentschap L'Agence Spatiale Européenne The European Space Agency



De Europese Gemeenschap La Communauté Européenne The European Community



Het Fonds voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek – Vlaanderen



Le Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique



### Table of contents

Preface	5
Reference Systems and Planetology	6
Space geodesy with GNSS (Global Navigation Satellite System)	
Time transfer and scale	10
Planetary Science	11
Seismology and Gravimetry	18
Seismic activity	19
Membach 20-40	20
Excavating across the Rauw fault	23
What is the largest magnitude possible?	24
Looking back in history for earthquakes: the earthquake of December 3, 1828 and the first officiation optimized	3l 24
	24
Astronomy and Astrophysics	
Workshop "Massive Stars and the Gaia-ESO Survey"	27
HERMES spectra of the non-thermal radio emitter 9 Sgr were used to refine the orbital paramete	rs of
A weak magnetic field in the normal main-sequence $\delta$ Scuti star HD 188774 = KIC 5988140	20
The origin of mysterious blue light near the Yellow Hypergiant HR 5171A	
Herschel imaging of the dust in the Helix nebula (NGC 7293)	31
The HERMES echelle spectrograph	32
Solar Physics and Space Weather	34
SOHO 20 years!	
The Sunspot number	37
Automatic detection of Coronal Mass Ejections (CMEs) in Heliospheric Imager (HI) data	39
Sunny views with jHelioviewer	41
Partial Solar Eclipse, March 20, 2015: A science party for everyone!	43
Information services	46
Information to public, media and authorities	47
Website	48
Mons superstar	48
	40 <b>F</b> A
New attendance record for the Internet site of the Planetarium	51
Night of the shooting stars	
Selection CANSat	
ASGARD Project	53
Darkness' Night	53
Poetry under the stars, Choir Stemmer and Cosmic Nights	54
Annex 1: Publications	
Publications with peer review	57
Publications without peer review	67
Other publications	74
Annex 2: Human Resources	76

## Preface

This report describes the highlights of scientific activities and public services at the Royal Observatory of Belgium in 2015.

A list of publications and the list of personnel is included at the end.

Due to lack of means and personnel the report is only in English. A description of the most striking highlights is available in Dutch and French.

If you need more or other information on the Royal Observatory of the Belgium and/or its activities please contact <u>rob\_info@oma.be</u> or visit our website <u>http://www.astro.oma.be</u>.

Ronald Van der Linden Director General

## Reference Systems and Planetology

This Operational Directorate Reference Systems and Planetology contributes to the elaboration of reference systems and timescales, integrates Belgium in the international reference frames, and studies the interior, rotation, dynamics, and crustal deformation of the Earth and other terrestrial planets and moons of our solar system

*The principal activities are grouped into two general themes:* 

- 1. Space geodesy and timescales with GNSS (Global Navigation Satellite System), and
- 2. Rotation and interior structure of the Earth and other terrestrial planets and satellites.

#### Space geodesy with GNSS (Global Navigation Satellite System)

#### **Global Geodetic Reference Frame for Sustainable Development**

In February 2015, the UN General Assembly adopted (with the support of Belgium and ROB) the resolution "A Global Geodetic Reference Frame for Sustainable Development", the first resolution recognizing that geodesy is fundamental for monitoring changes to the Earth. The resolution outlines the value of ground-based observations (such as GNSS) and remote satellite sensing when tracking changes in populations, ice caps, oceans and the atmosphere over time. It calls for greater multilateral cooperation in geodesy, including the open sharing of geospatial data, to maintain the Global Geodetic Reference Frame (such as the International Terrestrial Reference Frame - ITRF). This resolution is important for ROB because it outlines the societal importance of ROB's GNSS observations in Uccle, which contributes to the ITRF as well as ROB's



GNSS station at ROB that is ensuring the contribution of Belgium to the ITRF

role in the EUREF regional GNSS network, which is the European densification of the ITRF primary network, and allows an easy access and alignment of national reference frames to the ITRF.

#### EUREF Permanent GNSS Network (EPN)



EPN GNSS tracking stations, status Dec. 2015. Green stars (\*) indicate new stations included in 2015

The European Terrestrial Reference System (ETRS89), which is the European component of the

ITRF, is maintained and distributed through the EUREF Permanent GNSS Network (EPN). ROB is responsible for the EPN Central Bureau (CB) that performs the daily monitoring and management of the EPN. In 2015, ROB integrated 16 new stations in the EPN network: 4 in Spain, 1 in Sweden, 2 in Italy, 2 in France, 3 in Serbia, 1 in Czech Republic, 1 in the Netherlands, and 2 in Germany.

The EPN CB web site (<u>http://www.epncb.oma.be</u>) received in 2015 a monthly mean of 8700 visits from 3800 unique visitors. The EPN CB ftp site received a monthly mean of 4350 visits (mean of 1 300 000 hits/month) from 360 unique visitors.

#### Measuring ground deformations using GNSS

GNSS–based deformation monitoring is performed at ROB by computing each day the position of the continuous observing GNSS sites. These positions are obtained with a reliability of 2-3 mm in the horizontal and 5-6 mm in the vertical components. Using these daily site positions over a period of more than 3 years, we can obtain very precisely the movement of the site.

#### Construction of the European Plate Observing System – EPOS - started

As one of the partners in the EPOS-IP H2020 project (kick-off Oct. 2015), ROB participates now to the construction of the European Plate Observing System (EPOS), one of the large European research infrastructures that focuses on the understanding of the Solid Earth through the integration of multidisciplinary observations. In this new H2020 project, ROB is responsible for the preparation of the consortium agreement for the GNSS component of EPOS and the development of GNSS metadata management software.

A member of ROB was also elected chair of the EPOS Implementation Phase Council (IPC) and was also invited to join the EPOS Project Development Board (PDB). According to the EPOS-IP Grant Agreement, the IPC deals with all issues concerning the consortium and the grant agreement; the PDB drives the consortium and interacts with the Board of Governmental Representatives for decisions concerning the EPOS construction.

#### Belgium

ROB has validated in 2015 the accuracy of the positions and velocities of the Belgian dense GNSS network that were computed in 2014 by analyzing the noise processes of position time series. It was demonstrated that the formal errors outcome of the GNSS least-squares adjustment need to be multiplied by a mean factor of 2.6 for the vertical and 4.3 for horizontal velocity field. First comparisons of the GNSS vertical velocity field w.r.t. gravity measurements and INSAR measurements show promising results. Using the data from the GNSS receivers of all our permanent stations, as well as using the data from GNSS stations operated by the regions, we evaluated the ground deformations in Belgium and found no significant deformations in the horizontal while in the vertical there seems to be a small subsidence (about 1 mm/year level) in the region of the Belgian coast.

#### At the global scale

ROB has densified, improved and analyzed the global combination of a dense velocity field containing about 2800 GNSS stations. Based on the updated velocity field (June 2015), intraplate deformations for the major tectonic plates were derived. We have also highlighted the very good agreement with ITRF2008 plate motion model and the quality of the estimated combined velocity field that shows very small residual velocities in non-deforming zones.



Residual velocity field for African and Nubian plates (left) and Australian plate (right)

#### Improving the knowledge of the Earth's atmosphere

As GNSS signals travel through the Earth's atmosphere, they contain information on the state of the ionosphere and the troposphere. To extract this information from GNSS signals, networks of continuously observing GNSS stations, with well-known station positions, are used. For that purpose, members of the ROB "GNSS project" maintain a network of continuously observing GNSS stations and contribute actively to the elaboration and extension of the European GNSS network, known as the EUREF Permanent Network (EPN). In a second step, the GNSS data from these networks are used to compute information on the state of the Earth's ionosphere and troposphere.

#### Troposphere

ROB uses the observations from permanently tracking GNSS stations for the monitoring of shortterm tropospheric variations (linked to meteorological applications and short-term forecasting) and for assessing long-term tropospheric trends (linked to re-analysis and climate applications).

The BRAIN-BE project "COmbining Regional Downscaling EXpertise in Belgium: CORDEX and Beyond" (CORDEX.be) was kicked-off in Brussels on March 31, 2015. This project includes the major actors (4 FSI: ROB, RMI, BISA, RBINS – VITO – 3 universities: UCL, KUL, ULg) involved in climate research in Belgium. In 2015, ROB developed the methodology to produce climate-quality GNSS tropospheric delay time series. This method will be used in 2016 to analyze GNSS observations for the period 2000-2010 and deliver a climate-quality dataset which will be utilized by the project partners to validate their high-resolution climate model runs over Belgium.

ROB also installed a new world-wide hourly troposphere monitoring service, contributing to the EUMETNET E-GVAP program in support of data assimilation in global Numerical Weather Prediction (NWP) models (such as those at Météo France and the U.K. Met Office).



World-wide Network of GNSS stations analyzed every hour by the new global troposphere monitoring in support of global NWP models (Status: January 2016)

Two benchmark datasets were provided to Royal Meteorological Institute (RMI) to validate the ingestion of GNSS-based tropospheric zenith path delays in the data assimilation system of their high-resolution NWP model ALARO. First results showed neutral to positive impact of the GNSS data products on the statistic score on the short-range forecast, showing the capability of ALARO to better capture the humidity field when assimilating GNSS results. To improve these results even further, ROB started estimating slant tropospheric delays. First results show that our slant tropospheric delays are of similar quality as the datasets provided by other COST partners with strong expertise in estimating slant delays (e.g. GFZ, Germany).

#### Time transfer and scale Precise time transfer for timescales



Impact of a given delay between the code and carrier phase latching simulated with the Doppler frequency determined from the carrier phase data

ROB Service 1 works on time-transfer, an essential part of the realization of timescales. ROB has developed tools available for the scientific community and based on GNSS. The principle consists in connecting the atomic clocks that we want to monitor in different remote laboratory to GNSS receivers. By analyzing the GNSS observations, it is possible to determine the synchronization error between the clock connected to the GNSS receiver and the satellite clocks. As the GNSS provides in the navigation message the synchronization errors between the satellite clocks and a reference time scale, one deduces the synchronization error between the clock connected to the GNSS receiver and the

reference time scale of the GNSS. The classical "common-view" approach of time transfer has been replaced by a more complex method using GNSS signals in an optimal way in order to improve both the precision and accuracy of the clock comparisons. ROB has found recently the origin and solved a longstanding issue in time transfer, making an apparent frequency difference between the code and phase solutions, two methods used for positioning and time-transfer. It was due to the existence of some delay between the code and phase measurement made by the receiver. The effect was then quantified with simulations. ROB demonstrated that the effect can efficiently be modelled using the estimated Doppler frequency determined from the phase data and that the frequency difference in the clock solution is directly proportional to the delay between the code and phase measurements: for a delay of 1 µs, a daily drift in the PPP (Precise Point Positioning) solution will appear with a magnitude of 30 ps for a mid-latitude station. This very important result gave rise to a recommendation at the last CCTF (Consultative Committee for Time and Frequency) in September 2015. It was published with peer-review in IEEE and furthermore was published in December in "Inside GNSS", a printed magazine that reaches an international audience of 35,000 people, also available freely online.

#### Time transfer for users

ROB Service 1 has upgraded the R2CGGTTS software developed at ROB for standard GNSS time transfer, to include the satellites from the Chinese GNSS constellation BeiDou. This constellation comprises Geostationary (GEO) satellites, Medium Earth Orbit (MEO) satellites and Inclined Geo-Synchronic Orbit (IGSO) satellites. It was shown that only the signals from the MEO satellites could provide Time Transfer results with the same quality level as GPS satellites do. However, some satellite elevation-dependent variations were pointed out, revealing some multipath of the signal at the satellite level.



Time Transfer noise using different GPS, Galileo and BeiDou satellites, as a function of the satellite elevation

#### **Planetary Science**

#### A global subsurface ocean for Enceladus

In 2015, small variations in the rotation rate of the mid-sized icy moon Enceladus have been observed by an American team. These librations are due to the gravitational torque of Saturn on the non-spherically symmetric mass distribution of the satellite. ROB Service 1 demonstrated that the observed libration amplitude of Enceladus indicates that Enceladus has a global subsurface ocean and that the ice shell is on average between 14 km and 26 km thick. In an independent study, it was also shown that the obliquity of Enceladus is too small to explain the observed heat flow by obliquity tides, even when the effect of an internal ocean and of elasticity is taken into account.

ROB Service 1 showed that the observed libration amplitude is at least 4 times larger than that expected for an entirely solid satellite or a satellite having local liquid regions. Therefore, a partially decoupling layer must exist. Given the composition of Enceladus, this demonstrates that the small satellite Enceladus, like the largest icy satellites of the solar system, must have a global subsurface ocean. Such a hypothesis is not unexpected since Enceladus has active geysers at its south polar region, but nevertheless is not easily explainable in terms of the thermal evolution of the satellite. ROB Service 1 showed that, in contrast to the large icy satellites, the existence of a global subsurface ocean can strongly increase the libration amplitude. This difference in behavior is essentially due to the much smaller tides on Enceladus. ROB Service 1 showed that the libration mainly depends on the thickness of the ice shell for realistic values of the ice rigidity and viscosity. Enceladus deviates from hydrostatic equilibrium of Enceladus, as indicated by the observed gravity field and topography, and affects the libration by changing the principal moments of inertia of the ice shell and therefore also the torgues exerted on the shell. The non-hydrostatic structure was modelled in two ways: ROB Service 1 assumed that the bottom of the ice shell is not an equipotential surface or that the interface between the core and the ocean does not correspond to an equipotential surface. The other surface is assumed to be an equipotential surface of the self-gravitational potential, the centrifugal potential and the static tidal potential. The final results showed that even without precise information on the rigidity and viscosity of the ice and on the non-hydrostatic structure, the ice shell can be shown to on average between 14 km and 26 km thick. The thickness of the ice shell at the South Pole can be as thin as 3 km.



Localized dissipation within Enceladus' crust due to softer rheology at the south pole

We also applied the membrane theory to Enceladus with the aim of finding an explanation for the anomalous heating at the south pole of this moon. We developed a new `3D' thin shell theory describing the viscoelastic deformation of an icy crust with variable thickness and depth-dependent

rheology and showed that tidal dissipation at the South Polar Region can be largely increased assuming a softer rheology there.

#### Interior structure of super-Earths

ROB Service 1 studied the interior structure, dynamics and evolution of super-Earths and water-rich exoplanets. The stability of putative mantle mineral phases and their equations of state as well as ultra-high pressure thermoelastic properties of the stable iron phases were investigated with several external scientists. Solid iron properties at high to very high pressure (even extending the ultra-high pressures expected in super-Earths) were determined on the basis of first-principles quantum mechanical calculations. Suitable equations of state to the ab initio data were studied and significant differences with equations of state used in the exoplanet literature were discovered. We also examined the extrapolation of different equation of state formulations for mantle minerals to ultra-high pressures since thermoelastic properties for pressures larger that 100GPa are generally not available for most mantle mineral phases. Mantle mineral phases for exoplanets were calculated with a new code for the equations of state. The results show that for pressures below 500GPa, the deviations in density between the different equation of state formulations is below 2% and that it can be as large as 10% if the pressure is larger than 1TPa. We are currently investigating the implication of those findings on the mass-radius relation of different classes of solid super-Earths.

We also studied the influence of the interior structure and mass of exoplanets on the occurrence of melting. The built-up of an atmosphere through outgassing from the planetary interior was studied for terrestrial exoplanets with masses ranging from Mars-size to Super-Earth-size with up to 10 Earth masses. Is was shown that one-plate planets may suffer strong volcanic limitations if their mass and/or iron content exceeds a critical value, leading to insufficient greenhouse effect needed for the outer boundary of the habitable zone, thus reducing their possible surface habitability.

The thermal evolution of exoplanets with a thick



Melt depletion for terrestrial planets of different mass and composition after 4.5 Gyr for Earth-like initial conditions and heat sources

outer water layer was investigated and the habitability of the deep water layers was characterized.  $H_2O$  layers thicker than about 150 kilometers will consist of solid ice below a surface water layer, although the heat from the silicate mantle can melt the ice above the mantle from below, depending amongst others on the thickness of the ocean-ice shell and the mass of the planet. Deep water-ice layers may hinder the existence of volcanism at the water-mantle boundary due to the high pressure for both stagnant lid and plate tectonics silicate shells. A large planet mass, a high average density and a low surface temperature all result in a reduced habitability of water-rich planets with a deep ocean compared to a planet with an Earth-like ocean.

#### **Evolution of atmospheres including impact effects**

#### Evolution of the atmosphere of Venus

ROB developed a coupled model of mantle convection and atmospheric evolution, which includes feedback of the atmosphere on the mantle via the surface temperature. This model takes into account two mechanisms that deplete or replenish the atmosphere: atmospheric escape to space and volcanic degassing of the mantle.

During early atmospheric evolution the hydrodynamic escape is dominant, while for later evolution non-thermal escape is important, as observed by the ASPERA instrument on the Venus Express

Mission. The atmosphere is replenished by volcanic degassing from the mantle, using mantle convection simulations based on those of Armann and Tackley (2012), and include episodic lithospheric overturns.

The evolving surface temperature is calculated from the amount of CO2 and water in the atmosphere using a grey radiative-convective atmosphere model. This surface temperature in turn acts as a boundary condition for the mantle convection model. We have obtained a Venus-like behavior (episodic lid) for the solid planet and an atmospheric evolution leading to the present.



Comparative evolution of volcanic production rate, surface temperature and volume averaged mantle temperature with time for the reference case. Also indicated are the different convective regimes. The transition from mobile lid to stagnant lid is progressive. Early evolution (before 700Myr) follows an episodic, but mostly stagnant, lid pattern

CO2 pressure is unlikely to vary much over the history of the planet; with only a 0.25-20% postmagma-ocean build-up. In contrast, water pressure is strongly sensitive to volcanic activity, leading to variations in surface temperatures of up to 200 K, which has an effect on volcanic activity and



Mechanisms for the impact erosion of the atmosphere illustrated

mantle convection. Low surface temperatures trigger a mobile lid regime that stops once surface temperatures rise again, making way to stagnant lid convection that insulates the mantle.

We have also incorporated a model for erosion from meteorite impacts into the existing framework of the long term evolution model we previously developed. Our study indicates that the contribution of silicate vapor to the atmosphere could help to suppress hydrodynamic loss as the mean molecular weight of the atmosphere is increased.

#### A snowing core inside Mercury forming a solid inner core for Mercury

An important constraint on the interior structure of Mercury is obtained from the measured obliquity of Mercury. Within the usual assumption that the liquid core is fully coupled to the mantle and solid inner core on the timescales of the precession of Mercury, the moment of inertia of Mercury can be obtained from the obliquity. ROB Service 1 has developed a new extended model of Mercury's obliquity. The obliquity model initially developed for icy satellites was modified to apply

to the 3:2 spin-orbit resonance of Mercury. In addition, viscous torgues at the fluid core boundaries were added to the model and a Poincaré flow model of the fluid core was used to better model the pressure torques. ROB Service 1 has shown that libration together with obliquity strongly constrains the core size and density. The Love number too can provide accurate information on the core of Mercury, but the current observational precision on the Love number does not allow inferring better constraints on the core size than from rotation only. The tides indicate that the inner core is smaller than about 1200 km. ROB Service 1 also used an estimate of Mercury's radial contraction since the Late Heavy Bombardment to independently estimate the size of the inner core. It was shown that Mercury's inner core is likely not much larger than 1000 km if the crust thickness is below 30 km but could be larger for thicker crusts. The results show that Mercury cooled probably less than 200 K since the late heavy bombardment, a value corresponding rather well to estimates of the cooling of Mars. A further constraint on the core can be obtained from the fact that Mercury currently has a global magnetic field and very recent observations show it also had a magnetic field in the very early stages of Mercury's history. In our approach we have assumed that the dynamo is principally driven by secular cooling, heat generated by solid iron crystallization, and gravitational energy released by sinking of iron-rich snow and upwelling of iron depleted fluid. This shows that, given the estimates of the present day core-mantle boundary heat flow, a significant part of the liquid core is not convecting and as a consequence our approach cannot explain the present day internally generated magnetic field. Likewise, early in Mercury's history, prior to the advent of solid iron crystallization, secular cooling alone cannot explain the measured almost 3.5-billion-year-old remnant crustal magnetization. Further investigations about other plausible driving mechanism are required in order to explain Mercury's past and present magnetic field.

#### Titan polar motion

We studied the polar motion of Titan forced by its atmosphere and lakes, using the atmospheric forcing derived from new wind and pressure data from a General Circulation Model developed by T. Tokano (2010) and the Ocean Circulation Model for Titan's polar lakes developed by T. Tokano (2014). Because we explicitly take a subsurface ocean into account, both the rotation variations of the ice shell and of the interior below the ocean have to be studied. This model includes the effects of pressure and gravitational torques between the internal layers, tidal deformation, and angular momentum exchanges between the atmosphere, lakes and the surface. We showed that, in contrast to the Earth, the period of the Chandler wobble, a free mode of polar motion, is substantially influenced by the atmosphere and by the global subsurface ocean. The forced polar motion is mainly forced by the atmosphere of Titan whereas the hydrocarbon lakes induce a polar offset. The polar motion follows an elliptical path with amplitude of about 50 m for a solid and rigid Titan and a main



Contributions of different parameters to the Chandler wobble periods of Titan (left) and of the Earth (right, from Smith and Dahlen (1981)). The effect of the lakes is too small to be distinguished.

Royal Observatory of Belgium - Annual Report 2015

period equal to the orbital period of Saturn. The subsurface ocean can largely increase the polar motion amplitude due to resonant amplification with a wobble free mode of Titan. For thin ice shells, the polar motion amplitude can reach several tens of km and shorter periods become dominant.

#### Methane from the interior of Mars

ROB Service 1 has modeled gas transport through the porous Martian regolith focusing on water vapor and methane. The thermal model used includes several layers of varying thickness with depth and properties that can be changed to correspond to those of Martian rocks at locations studied. It also includes the transport of water vapor through the subsurface and the different phases considered are vapor, ice and adsorbed H<sub>2</sub>O. We have shown that the methane release due to destabilization of clathrate hydrates could provide a sudden flux of CH4 into the atmosphere that could feasibly create a plume as observed by Mumma et al. (2009).



#### Radioscience experiments for obtaining the nutation of Mars

ROB is a lead partner of the radio science experiment RISE (Rotation and Interior Structure Experiment) of the forthcoming NASA InSight mission to Mars. It also leads the LaRa (Lander Radioscience) experiment of the 2018 ESA ExoMars mission. As part of the preparation for the data analysis of these instruments, ROB Service 1 theoretically computed the nutations of



Radioscience experiment for obtaining information on the interior of Mars

the reference interior structure models of Mars that have been selected by the SEIS experiment for computing the propagation of synthetic seismic events. The set of models have all a liquid core and are in agreement with Mars' moment of inertia and the tidal Love number k2. Several large amplitude nutations are expected to be resonantly amplified. Their determination by the radioscience experiments will allow constraining the moment of inertia of the core. That will in turn lead to information about the radius and composition of the core.

#### Mars Ionospheric Model

We developed an empirical model called MoMo (Mars Ionospheric Model) in collaboration with an ESA scientist who has full access to the data, in order to predict the vertical Total Electron Content (vTEC) from only F10.7P solar flux index (measure of the noise level generated by the Sun at a wavelength of 10.7 cm) at Mars. The vTEC is the integration of the electron density on a perpendicular to the surface of Mars. Knowledge of the vTEC is important for being able to correct the radioscience data for the ionospheric perturbations. We compared our results with data from

the MARSIS instrument on the Mars Express satellite for the period 2005-2014. We showed that there were no mean differences with the MARSIS observations, with possible errors at the level of  $\sim$ 0.1 TECu depending on the solar zenith angle (SZA), season and hemisphere of interest. This confirms the validity of our computations and of the model.

#### Titan lakes

The Cassini spacecraft, exploring the Saturnian system, has discovered surface lakes/seas that appear in various shapes and sizes on Titan. These lakes and seas are filled with liquid hydrocarbons, primarily methane and ethane.



Saturn's moon Titan "Magic Island" of the Kraken Mare sea: photos taken during two different flybys. (Photo: NASA/JPL-Caltech/ASI/Cornell)

The northern high-latitudes exhibit a much higher abundance of lakes of all types than the southern ones. This observed asymmetric distribution of lakes with respect to the equator may reflect the seasonal changes. Lately, Cassini Radar and VIMS (Visible and Infrared Mapping Spectrometer) provided observations suggesting for the first time temporal variations in lake surfaces. Active shoreline processes have been observed on Ontario Lacus. The variation in the shorelines could be explained by different speculations including evaporation, tides or the low spatial resolution of the ISS images. Moreover, other phenomena have also been observed on Ligeia Mare and Kraken Mare; some specific areas, referred to as "Magic Islands", are very dark which correspond to a liquid filled area for much of Cassini flybys but there are a few flybys for which the same areas are brighter. In Ligeia Mare, these ephemeral phenomena have been interpreted as surface waves, rising bubbles or suspended or floating solids while, for Kraken Mare's "Magic Islands", VIMS data indicate specular reflections interpreted as waves or wet ground. As seen on Earth, tides may also generate such "Magic Islands" in shallow areas, which we are verifying.

Titan's obliquity and its eccentric orbit around Saturn with an orbital period of one Titan day (15.9454 Earth days) cause time-dependent tidal forces, which leads to periodic surface displacements of seas/lakes. Some theoretical estimates of tidal amplitude yield smaller depth changes than those observed from shoreline positions and, therefore, the tide is not considered as a dominant contributor to the predicted change on Ontario Lacus. Other numerical results yield in a tidal amplitude twice smaller. Preliminary results obtained by a model (developped in collaboration with UCL) on Ontario Lacus predict a tidal range that is larger by a factor of 3 than the one obtained in this previous numerical study for a fully rigid Titan. Titan being deformable because of its global subsurface ocean, these results would be an upper bound of the lakes/seas surface displacements which would tend to confirm that the tides are not the main cause of hypothetical Ontario Lacus shoreline changes.

As a matter of fact, several parameters (which are not well known) such as bathymetry, evaporation and infiltration, winds and the vertical deformations of lakes/seas bottom following solid body tides

could significantly modify the results, not only the tidal range but also the current speed and orientation. New SAR data analysis indicates that the depth of some sea(s)/lake(s) would have been underestimated. For example, the maximal depth of Ontario Lacus could be about 90 m instead of 30 m. This change is due to a better knowledge of lake's liquid properties, which modifies the radar attenuation to be considered and which in turn results in a more accurate interpretation of the measurements and thus in a different bathymetry. The presence of islands in lakes or seas must be reconsidered in this new context.

In order to study the time dependent response of icy satellite surface seas and lakes to tidal forces we use an existing numerical ocean model developed for terrestrial applications in collaboration with UCL. The Second-generation Louvain-la-Neuve Ice-Ocean Model, SLIM (www.climate.be/slim), is a hydrodynamical model based on the discontinuous Galerkin finite element method developed at UCL. The main advantage of a finite element method formulation is that it allows one to use unstructured grids without the need of nested grids. Hence we can model precisely the complex shorelines of Titan's seas and make use of high resolution where needed (for example, in the throat of Kraken Mare or where the bathymetry gradient is high).



Geographic distribution of lakes in the (a) northern and (b) southern hemispheres.

The lakes are color coded according to their morphologic type (filled, intermediate, empty)



Images of Cassini Radar showing (a) lakes and seas with irregular margins, islands and estuaries, suggestive of flooding of the landscape (Image credit: NASA/JPL) (b) Variations of shorelines suggestive of evaporation and tides

The 2D depth averaged shallow water equations are discretized on curved surface using triangular or quadrangular meshes. The effect of gravitational tide is taken into account by considering the spatial derivatives of the time-dependent tidal potential provided in the literature. The numerical code allows us to study the impact of a large number of parameters and processes such as the bathymetry, wind stress, evaporation, precipitation and wetting-drying through a novel, very efficient algorithm that was primarily designed to simulate tides in rivers and estuaries on Earth. Over the last 6 years, SLIM has been extensively used to model the Scheldt (Belgium) and Mahakam (Indonesia) river-sea continua, as well the Great Barrier Reef (Australia).

# Seismology and Gravimetry

The main mission of the Operational Directorate Seismology and Gravimetry is studying seismic activity, its causes and its consequences in Western Europe. In support of this scientific research and to provide the authorities, the media and the public with relevant information about the seismic activity in real time in our region, this operational direction develops and maintains a network of seismic monitoring in Belgium.

#### **Seismic activity**

A total of 52 natural earthquakes were located in or near Belgium in 2015. 2 earthquakes, one F16 sonic boom and 4 induced events were felt in or around Belgium. The largest earthquake in 2015 was the 22 May 2015 Ramsgate (UK), with a magnitude ML=4.1. In 2015, no damage was reported in Belgium. Concurrently, the observatory measured 7 induced events and 75 quarry blasts. There were at least 4 measurable explosions at sea or close to the Belgian shore. Explosions are performed by the Belgian Army to destroy WW1 and WW2 bombs. One F16 broke the sound barrier above southern Walloon-Brabant. This sonic boom, 3 seismic events and 3 induced events were felt by the Belgian population in 2015. The 3 felt earthquakes occurred in Düsseldorf on 14 January 2015 (ML=1.5), in Spa on 13 May 2015 (ML=2.9) and in Ramsgate on 22 May 2015 (UK, ML=4.1). The Spa event was felt only very locally (10 km radius).

The Ramsgate earthquake was particularly well felt in Belgium along an E-W axis, from Ostend to Liège at a distance more than 300 km from the epicentre. For this earthquake, 1986 testimonies were submitted on our web site, together with testimonies submitted to the BCSF (France) and BGS (UK). Figure 2 shows the impact of this earthquake.

The felt induced events occurred in Germany: in Haltern on 28 April 2015 (ML=2.0), Gladbeck on 1 September 2015 (ML=2.5) and Bergheim on 22 December 2015 (ML=2.4). Our transfrontier collaboration with the Cologne University (BNS) dates back to 2010 and provides real-time macroseismic maps of felt events on the ROB and BNS common macroseismic inquiry website.

For comparison, in 2014, 79 earthquakes occurred in and around Belgium. The largest was located in Tiel (Netherlands, ML=2.7) and only one event was felt in Belgium (Court-Saint-Etienne, 10 January 2014, magnitude ML=1.0).



Events recorded in 2015 by the Belgian Seismic Network of the Royal Observatory of Belgium



Macroseismic map showing the observed effect of the ML 4.1 Ramsgate earthquake as reported by citizens in Belgium, France and United Kingdom. The map shows the institutes collaborating in the exchange of data.

#### Membach 20-40

Membach station: the superconducting gravimeter GWR-C021 was installed in August 1995 in Membach. In 2015, this instrument will have been continuously measuring gravity changes for 20 years. Concurrently, seismometers will have been measuring Earth vibrations for 40 years. The ROB celebrated this event in October 2015, together with the Walloon Public service. Three days were planned:

- One commemorative day: 14 October: official celebration, presentation to the press.
- Two scientific days:
  - 15 October: Scientific workshop in seismology « Earthquake activity and hazard in north western Europe », Dam of La Gileppe. 67 participants, of which 1 from the USA, 2 from France, 8 from Germany, 2 from the Netherlands, 1 from Luxembourg, 24 from U. Liège, 4 from U. Mons, 2 from ULB, 2 from KUL and 1 from UCL. Moreover, there were 3 participants from private companies, 2 from Flemish administration and 1 from Walloon administration. Remaining attendees came from the ROB and the engineers from the SPW Wallonie.
  - October: « Hydrology, Geophysics and Geodesy HG<sup>2</sup>, a new way to manage water resources », Royal Observatory of Belgium, Brussels. This was organized together with the Belgian National Committee of the International Hydrological Programme, U. Gent, UCL, U. Liège, VUB, ISSeP and SPW Wallonie.



### **BAELEN** Membach Les 40 ans de la station sismique

n célébrait ce mercredi les quarante ans de la station sismique de Membach, entrée en service en 1975. Elle représente un important maillon du réseau sismologique belge, et sa gestion dépend de l'Observatoire Royal de Belgique. Elle dispose aussi depuis 1995 d'un gravimètre à supraconductivité qui en fait un outil parmi les plus performants. Pour l'occasion, après l'intervention d'Yvon Loyaerts, directeur général des voies hydrauliques au SPW, on entendait les explica-tions de Ronald van der Linden, directeur général de l'Observatoire Royal de Belgique, soulignant au barrage de la Gileppe l'importance opérationnelle de cet outil. Il a permis de s'assurer de la stabilité du sol lors de la construction



L'allocution de Ronald van der Linden, directeur de l'O.R.B. à La Gileppe.

du viaduc de l'Eau Rouge, et de de Membach ausculte en permaculmine à 78 mètres. Cette station plan international.

mesurer aussi la fiabilité de l'érec- nence le sous-sol de notre région tion de la tour de la Gileppe, qui et transmet des données sur le Y.H.



Celebrating the Membach 20-40 anniversary: visit of the station, official reception at La Gileppe (© L'Avenir-Le Jour Verviers, 2015-10-16), workshop in La Gileppe, logo (© Wim Vander Putten, Planetarium), the GWR company proudly exhibiting about the Membach 20-40 anniversary on its booth during the AGU 2015 Fall meeting

#### **Excavating across the Rauw fault**

The Rauw Fault is the closest fault to the nuclear zone of Mol-Dessel with some indirect evidence for Late Pleistocene movement. In the framework of a seismic hazard study, as part of the ONDRAF/NIRAS R&D programme for the region in cooperation with the ROB, we wanted to assess the amount and the timing of this fault movement. The trench investigation in 2014 continued in 2015 with interpretation and sample analyses. Samples from the trench are sent for dating via optical stimulated luminescence (OSL), electron spin resonance (ESR), cosmic ray nucleide (CRN), radiocarbon (14C), pollen and charcoal wood type analysis.

Dating and stratigraphy investigations shows that most of the 7 m observed offset of the Rauw fault occurred between 1 Ma and 0.5 Ma, associated with Rhine/Meuse terrace deposition in the sunken block along the Rauw fault. A long period of erosion (0.5 Ma - 31 ka) caused relief inversion because the gravel of the terrace deposits protected that area from erosion. In other words, differential erosion transformed the former depression into the present Campine Plateau and removed any evidence for individual faulting events.

However, the timing of the terrace deposition and recognition of its reworked gravel in the trench is important to infer conclusions on the episodic movement of the fault. The 7 m-displacement occurred in a relatively short time-window compared to a long period before without any movement during the entire 30 m of Mol Sand deposition and soil formation in its top (3.58 -2.59 Ma). Older deposits show again increasing offset. The Rauw fault is therefore considered as episodically active. There has been no fault offset during the last 45 ka and probably not during the last 0.5 Ma.

Together with the absence of historical or instrumental seismic activity, this suggests that the Rauw fault is presently inactive but might be reactivated in the future.



Rauw fault average displacement history and average slip rates derived from the trench. The two hypotheses on the timing are depicted in full and dashed lines. The two full lines allow for the possibility of 1 m of movement either before the fault displacement event that influenced the course of the Rhine/Meuse rivers, or after this terrace deposition

#### What is the largest magnitude possible?

Mmax, the largest earthquake magnitude assumed to be possible in a given region, is an important parameter in seismic hazard assessment (SHA). However, due to the short length of our earthquake catalogs, it is very difficult to determine Mmax, particularly in stable continental regions (SCR). A method that is commonly used to estimate Mmax in SCR is based on tectonic analogy, and assumes that Mmax should be similar in tectonically similar regions around the world. In this approach, the SCR have been divided in 255 domains, and tectonically similar domains were combined in "superdomains". Taking the largest magnitude observed in each superdomain, a superdomain Mmax distribution has been derived that is often applied as a global prior in SHA. The apparent Mmax differences between SCR domains that are implied by the concept of superdomains are shown in the map below.

The question we wanted to address is whether these differences are real or just reflect a short time sample. Could they also be explained by a uniform global Mmax value? We explored this possibility and showed that the hypothesis of a global uniform Mmax cannot presently be rejected. Simulations with larger Mmax and longer catalogs confirm that catalog length is the limiting factor in our knowledge of Mmax. These results have been presented at 3 international meetings and a manuscript is accepted by Seismological Research Letters.



Map showing apparent Mmax differences between SCR superdomains. We showed that these differences are probably due to limited catalog lengths

## Looking back in history for earthquakes: the earthquake of December 3, 1828 and the first official inquiry

Through historical research in record offices and libraries, new data have provided information about 75 localities, to be compared to the most complete dataset for this earthquake, SisFrance (2014 version) which only listed 36 localities. Most of the catalogues indicated a location of the earthquake near Aachen, suggesting that it occurred in the Roer Graben. Unlike previous studies, where the epicentre is simply supposed to be located where the macroseismic effects are the strongest, we took into account the global macroseismic field to evaluate the epicentre and its uncertainty.

We confirm an epicentre in the Hautes-Fagnes, with an estimated uncertainty of around 30 km. Hence, we proved that this earthquake is not related to the active faults of Roer Graben. With an estimated magnitude of MW 4.2 (-0.2/+0.4), this event is the largest known one in this region since

the M = 6 ¼ event that occurred on 18 September 1692, more to the north-west, in the region of Verviers, which is the strongest known earthquake in the stable part of Europe to the north of the Alps. Even if the intensity of earthquakes is moderate, historical criticism allowed us not only to better estimate their location and magnitude, but also to correct previous misinterpretation. Hence, we could sort out information about this 3 December 1828 and the 23 February 1828 earthquakes. This previous confusion complicated the evaluation of their respective felt areas.

We also showed that the Prussian government made the first official inquiry on earthquake effects ever done in this part of Europe. The questionnaire sent by the Prussian government prefigures the seismic inquiries conducted today after the occurrence of earthquakes.



Localities where information is reported for the 3 December 1828 earthquake (published in J. Seismology)

## Astronomy and Astrophysics

The astronomers of the Operational Directorate Astronomy and Astrophysics do research in astronomy and they also observe solar system objects. Stellar evolution, mass loss of stars, variable and multiple stars as well as rapidly rotating stars are studied. Astrometry of minor planets is carried out and planetary satellites are observed. The researchers are active in the preparation and/or reduction and interpretation of data coming from dedicated observational campaigns, large scale surveys and space telescopes.

The service maintains databases and provides software for scientists. General information on astronomical and related phenomena are distributed to public and press. Digitisation and archiving of photographic plates is also a task of this group.

#### Workshop "Massive Stars and the Gaia-ESO Survey"

Ronny Blomme (ROB) and Jorick Vink (Armagh Observatory, UK) co-organized the workshop on "Massive Stars and the Gaia-ESO Survey", held at the ROB, 5-7 May 2015. Funding was obtained from the European Science Foundation, via the GREAT (Gaia Research for European Astronomy Training) collaboration. Additional funding was made available by the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique (FNRS) via G. Rauw (Université de Liège). The ROB provided in-kind contributions. 50 participants attended the meeting: this includes 6 SOC members, 11 invited speakers and 28 participants who gave a contributed talk.



### HERMES spectra of the non-thermal radio emitter 9 Sgr were used to refine the orbital parameters of this binary

The 2013-2014 periastron passage of the non-thermal radio emitter, 9 Sgr, was observed in a multiwavelength monitoring campaign. As part of that campaign, the JVLA (Jansky Very Large Array) radio telescope was used to obtain fluxes at 3.6, 6 and 20 cm approximately every month from beginning of February 2013 till mid-May 2014. The data revealed a substantial amount of radio frequency interference and plots of the observed visibility amplitudes as a function of time and frequency were made. These were used for the final calibration of the 9 Sgr radio during 2015. Optical spectra of 9 Sgr and two other non-thermal emitters (HD 168112 and HD 167971) were obtained as part of the observing proposal on the HERMES instrument on the Mercator telescope. Some data on HD 167971 were also collected by C. Nitschelm (Universidad Católica del Norte, Chile) with the FEROS instrument at ESO, Chile. The radial velocities from the reduced HERMES spectra of 9 Sgr were determined and the spectra of 9 Sgr have been used as part of a publication (see figure). The publication also presents X-ray data of this star, obtained by the collaborators from the Liège group.



Radial velocity curve of 9 Sgr, folded in orbital phase. Open symbols indicate the primary star, filled symbols the secondary. The different symbols indicate different instruments. Figure from Rauw et al. (2016. A&A. submitted).

## A weak magnetic field in the normal main-sequence $\delta$ Scuti star HD 188774 = KIC 5988140

A weak magnetic field has been detected in the normal main-sequence  $\delta$  Scuti star HD 188774 = KIC 5988140. This discovery is an unexpected result which shows that the low frequencies detected in some of the candidate hybrid stars observed by the Kepler satellite may have a different origin than (gravity mode) pulsations or binarity. Following this discovery, press releases have been issued by the Observatoire de Paris, the Canada-France-Hawaii Telescope and the Royal Observatory of Belgium to announce this surprising result.

Two types of pulsating stars exist among stars with a mass between 1.5 and 2.5 solar masses: the  $\delta$  Scuti stars and the  $\gamma$  Dor stars. Theory tells us that, when such stars have a surface temperature between 6900 and 7400 kelvins, they can have both types of pulsations, i.e. they are called "hybrid stars". The NASA space mission Kepler provided a wealth of new candidate "hybrid stars", even outside the theoretically predicted physical parameter range.

Coralie Neiner (LESIA, CNRS / Observatoire de Paris / UPMC / Université Paris Diderot) and Patricia Lampens (ROB) have therefore sought which physical phenomena could mimic the hybrid character in delta Scuti stars. One possibility could be the presence of a magnetic field which would produce spots on the rotating stellar surface and mimic the  $\gamma$  Dor pulsations. However, no magnetic field had ever been observed in a  $\delta$  Scuti star until now...

They proposed to observe HD 188774, a Kepler hybrid candidate star, in order to look for the presence of a magnetic field. Based on spectropolarimetric measurements obtained at the Canada-France-HawaiiTelescope (CFHT), they showed that the star exhibits a clear magnetic signature. This represents the very first detection of a magnetic  $\delta$  Scuti star. It further shows that the signature of a magnetic field can be confused with that of  $\gamma$  Dor type pulsations.

The discovery that HD 188774 is a magnetic  $\delta$  Scuti star and not a true hybrid star opens the perspective of a new interpretation for the Kepler observations of other hybrid stars, and of pulsating stars in that mass range. This has important implications for understanding the (deep) interior structure of such stars.



## The origin of mysterious blue light near the Yellow Hypergiant HR 5171A

An international team of astronomers, including Alex Lobel, astrophysicist of the Royal Observatory of Belgium, has discovered the origin of mysterious blue light near the Yellow Hypergiant HR 5171A. The light was accidentally observed in the early 1970s by a team member, but without providing a good explanation for it. More than 40 years later the team's research reveals the light was caused by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon molecules or PAHs. PAHs are ring-shaped molecules. They are observed in large gas clouds in specific conditions between and near stars. On Earth the molecules form by incomplete combustion of fossil fuels. In the Milky Way they are observed in dusty nebulae.



The bright central star is the yellow hypergiant HR 5171A observed with Spitzer/NASA in infrared light. The Gum48d nebula around it is an active star formation region.

#### Herschel imaging of the dust in the Helix nebula (NGC 7293)

G. Van de Steene, P.A.M. van Hoof and M. Groenewegen collaborated with Mireya Etxaluze (Departamento de Astrofísica, CSIC-INTA, Madrid, Spain) and others on the analysis of the Herschel SPIRE spectrum of NGC 7293 (the Helix nebula) which showed the very first detection of the OH+ molecular ion in a planetary nebula. This was already highlighted in an ESA press release in 2014, but the paper "Herschel imaging of the dust in the Helix nebula (NGC 7293)" appeared in 2015 and the Herschel images of the Helix nebula were used as front page illustration of a volume of Astronomy and Astrophysics.



0006 0.0002 0.0003 0.0010 0.0018 0.0028 0.0042 0.0061 0.00

*Herschel* images of NGC 7293. *Top row left to right*: PACS 70 and PACS 160  $\mu$ m images, *second row*: SPIRE 250 and SPIRE 350  $\mu$ m images, and *bottom row*: SPIRE 500  $\mu$ m and a NASA/JPL-Caltech composite image. The colour bar under the *Herschel* images shows the flux density in Jansky/pixel. The grayscale image is the NASA/JPL-Caltech composite image (pia15817.html) including infrared data from *Spitzer* wavelengths 3.6 to 4.5  $\mu$ m and 8 to 24  $\mu$ m, WISE data at 3.4 to 4.5 and 12 to 22  $\mu$ m, and ultraviolet data from GALEX at 0.15 to 2.3  $\mu$ m. The region observed by *Herschel* and considered in this paper is indicated by the white contour in this last image

#### The HERMES echelle spectrograph

HERMES is the acronym for High Efficiency and Resolution Mercator Echelle Spectrograph. The whole project was to design, construct, and integrate the spectrograph at the Mercator telescope in collaboration between the ROB, the KU Leuven, the ULB, the Thüringer Landessternwarte Tautenburg (Germany) and the Geneva Observatory (Switzerland). ROB took a leading and very active part to the development of the data reduction software. The spectrograph and its pipeline have now entered their exploitation phase and have already produced about 27000 spectra.



Time distribution of the number of HRF spectra (blue bars). In 2015, 8% of the HERMES spectra were obtained for ROB PIs (left panel, green bars), while 37% were obtained for ROB PIs and/or co-Is (right panel, green bars)

One of the ROB commitments towards the HERMES consortium consists in performing 3 to 4 2-weeks observing runs and to financially support these (i.e. the costs cover the man power, the trip to La Palma, the accommodation, as well as all technical and administrative costs for the telescope time). In 2015, 2 observing runs were under the ROB's responsibility. Another commitment is to contribute to the maintenance of the reduction pipeline. During 2015 as in previous years, of the Hermes web-services were maintained: server disk space monitoring, mailing/alert system aimed to warn ROB colleagues when predefined observations were carried-on and reduced. A daily mirroring is still performed in order to always have a copy at ROB of the raw and reduced data at the telescope and KU Leuven. In 2015 26 papers that make use of the HERMES spectrograph data were published, among which 6 had at least one ROB member in the authors list. The total refereed papers using HERMES data is now over 100.

#### Short-period spectroscopic binary and triple systems

A number of short-period spectroscopic binary and triple systems has been detected among the sample of 48 candidate hybrid A/F-type stars of the Kepler mission whose radial velocities are being monitored with the HERMES spectrograph. These results which are based on a collection of 250 high-resolution spectra indicate a spectroscopic multiplicity fraction of about 25%. For various systems, the derived radial velocities have led to the determination of a first orbital solution (in collaboration with the Konkoly Observatory, Budapest, Hungary; based on HERMES Consortium prog. nr 52).

# Solar Physics and Space Weather

The Operational Directorate Solar Physics and Space Weather studies the outer layers and the atmosphere of the Sun, with a particular focus on solar activity and the influence it exerts on the Earth and its space environment (space weather).

#### SOHO 20 years!

On December 2, 2015 we celebrated the 20th anniversary of the launch of the ESA/NASA solar observatory "Solar and Heliospheric Observatory" (SOHO). The discoveries made by the instruments on SOHO have revolutionized solar physics and space weather worldwide (see ESA press release)<sup>1</sup>.

The SOHO observatory was launched on Dec 2 1995 as a joint ESA/NASA mission. Belgium (ROB & CSL) participated in the very succesfull EIT telescope thanks to BELSPO/ financing.

At the Royal Observatory of Belgium, the birthday of SOHO was celebrated with particular nostalgia. Indeed, the start and subsequent successes of SOHO has been the most important driver in the past 20 years behind the space activities at the "Solar Influences Data analysis Center" (SIDC), a research group of around 40 people at ROB. Together with



the Centre Spatial de Liège (CSL), ROB/SIDC participated in the Extreme Ultraviolet Imaging Telescope (EIT) on SOHO.

EIT was originally regarded as the "context imager" for the spectrographs onboard SOHO producing only 4 sets of (static) images per day, during a lifetime of 2 years. Soon however it became clear that movies of EIT images showed unexpected dynamics such as enormous 'tsunamis' on the Sun (which we now call EIT waves) that are related to coronal mass ejections. The SOHO mission was extended several times and is, 20 years later, still operating a subset of the instruments, including EIT.

The very first generation of the post-docs at ROB/SIDC has contributed significantly in the calibration of the instrument, the science planning and the exploitation of the EIT data set. A special way of operating the telescope, the "EIT shutterless mode" was designed and pioneered at ROB. This experience brought us to the telescope later SWAP on PROBA2 and the upcoming EUI telescopes on Solar Orbiter.

EIT, together with the LASCO coronagraphs onboard SOHO, have been essential elements in the effort to monitor solar activity and forecast the impacts at the Earth. Also in this field,



A snapshot per year showing the evolution of the solar corona over 2 solar cycles in the 28.4nm bandpass of EIT

called space weather, the successes of SOHO ignited a parallel success at ROB/SIDC with the development of automated processing software and space weather activities. In this context, the

Royal Observatory of Belgium - Annual Report 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.esa.int/Our Activities/Space Science/SOHO celebrates 20 years of discoveries

SIDC research group received at the 12th European Space Weather Week the "International Marcel Nicolet medal 2015" for structuring the international space weather community.

Over the years, EIT images made it to popular science and eventually appeared as an illustration in the worldwide press whenever the sun was mentioned.



EIT images as an icon of the Sun in popular press
# The Sunspot number

The Sunspot Number, the longest scientific experiment still ongoing, is a crucial tool used to study the solar dynamo, as well as space weather and climate change. In 2011, the WDC-SILSO, together with a community of about 50 scientists, initiated the first end-to-end recalibration of this reference data set. In July 2015, a first updated version of the series was officially released. Several major improvements were brought to the series over the "modern" part, from 1850 to the present.

Sunspot Number research could be compared to a marathon in the sense that thanks to curious scientists such as Galileo, we have observational sunspot data dating back to 400 years ago. But, while the amount of data is impressive, the accuracy of the observations was not regulated in the same way 400 years ago as it is today. For example, what was sometimes seen as only one group of spots at the time (Figure below) would in fact be counted as several groups today. This difference can drastically impact the Sunspot Number (composed of both the number of groups and the number of spots on the Sun) extracted from this particular data.



Sunspot drawings from J.C. Staudacher for February 13th and 15th of 1760

Sunspots are an important scientific tool for the study of the Sun all the way to the climate on Earth. However, these accuracy problems caused by a lack of knowledge at the time or documentation afterwards have to be taken into acount.

This is why a team of scientists, including Drs. Clette and Lefèvre from the WDC-SILSO, took it upon themselves to correct and improve the data. To identify possible issues, two official sunspot series were taken into account: the International Sunspot Number (the blue line in the graph below) and the Group Sunspot Number (red). The results of the two lists are largely similar, but occasionally there are noticeable inconsistencies in the numbers (upper panel of Figure).



Wolf number (blue) and Group Number (red) before the corrections (upper panel) and after corrections (lower panel). Agreement between these two well-known series is improved after corrections

The corrections that were found change the long-term history of solar activity: what we call the Modern Maximum (a very active period that starts around the 1950s) is not so different from the rest of the sunspot series anymore (lower panel of Figure). This tendency for Solar Cycles to be higher and higher as we progress toward the present indeed almost vanishes after correction. This fact is important for the analysis of evolution of the Earth's climate.

The results of this important Solar Physics community effort were announced in August 2015 at the International Astronomical Union General Assembly.

# Automatic detection of Coronal Mass Ejections (CMEs) in Heliospheric Imager (HI) data

The advent of wide-angle imaging of the inner heliosphere has revolutionised the study of the solar wind and, in particular, solar wind structures such as Coronal Mass Ejections (CMEs). CMEs comprise enormous plasma and magnetic field structures that are ejected from the Sun and propagate at what can be immense speeds through interplanetary space. With Heliospheric Imaging (HI) came the unique ability to track the evolution of these features as they propagate through the inner heliosphere. Prior to the development of wide-angle imaging of the inner heliosphere, signatures of such solar wind transients could only be observed within a few solar radii of the Sun, and in the vicinity of a few near-Earth and interplanetary in-situ probes. HI has, for the first time, filled that vast and crucial observational gap, as can be seen below.



Combined view of coronagraphs (blue and yellow) and heliospheric imagers (grey) showing the solar wind and CMEs between the Sun and the Earth. The Sun is at the right of the image, the Earth is at the left. From Deforest et al., 2011

The European FP7 HELCATS project (<u>www.helcats-fp7.eu</u>) provides access to advanced catalogues - validated and augmented through the use of techniques and models - for the analysis of solar wind structures, based on observations from European-led space instrumentation, providing a strong foundation for enhanced exploitation and advancement of European heliospheric research.

ROB task consisted in the implementation of a technique in order to automatically detect CMEs in HI data. For doing so, we have adapted CACTus (<u>http://sidc.oma.be/cactus/</u>), to work with HI images, as it was only working with coronagraph data before (SOHO-LASCO and STEREO-COR2). This is a big challenge due to several factors. The geometry of the observations is completely different, CMEs are fainter in HI data, the images include planets and stars that have to be removed, and the cadence is much lower than that in a regular coronagraph. In spite of all the complications, we have succeeded to modify CACTus to work with HI. It is the first time that this task is performed successfully. The result of this work is the production of a catalogue of automatically detected CMEs in HI data for the

full duration of the STEREO mission (from 2007 until present). This catalogue contains about 1000 CMEs, and it is available at <u>www.sidc.be/cactus/hi</u>. A snapshot of the catalogue is shown below. A real time output will be available in the near future.



The HELCATs automatic CME catalogue. The events are listed in the middle, when clicking on them information on the CME is obtained (a video on the left and information on the CME speed on the right)

A comparison of our automatic CME catalogue with a pre-existing manually-made CME catalogue is underway. This exercise, apart from providing validation to our method, is allowing us to obtain important insights on the automatic algorithm itself, and providing important constraints and information that can be applied to enhance our knowledge on CMEs.

#### Sunny views with jHelioviewer

The activity on the Sun is monitored by many different solar telescopes both on the ground as well as in space. Satellites such as the NASA STEREO mission even image the back-side of the Sun. In many cases, the data is available in near-real-time from various websites. For a solar physicists or a space weather operator, it can become quiet labor intensive to crawl through all the available data and make a synthesis of what is going on at the Sun.One of the important missing information is radio imaging observations (allows positioning of the radio emission) in the interplanetary range. In order to compensate for this lack of spatial information the specific radio observations, so called radio triangulation measurements (also referred to as direction-finding measurements) from two or more widely separated spacecraft are being studied. With the help of different direction-finding methods the radio triangulation observations allow obtaining the position of the radio emission.



Screenshot of a jHelioviewer session showing a PROBA2/SWAP image (yellow) with a magnetic field extrapolation (PFSS, red-white-blue) and in the background a SOHO/LASCO C2 difference image showing a CME. The bottom panel shows A PROBA2/LYRA timeline with flares

For these reasons, a team of software developers at ROB have overhauled the existing jHelioviewer application and boosted its functionalities. Once installed on the user computer, jHelioviewer allows you to access a variety of solar data from different servers and, by just clicking a few buttons, display movies of combined data sets, with chosen zoom and perspective and even with your favorite projection. The new version also incorporates access to a space weather event (e.g. flares) and displays their timelines synchronized with the running movie.



Screenshot of a jHelioviewer session showing an SDO/AIA difference image with an ongoing flare spray (blue circle) and flare (red circle). The bottom panel displays a Humain/eCallisto radiospectrograph showing a co-occuring type II radioburst

This new version 2.10 has been improved under the contract "High Performance Distributed Solar Imaging and Processing System" of the European Space Agency (ESA), awarded to the SIDC @ Royal Observatory of Belgium (ROB). The application is freely available for all platforms from <u>http://sidc.be/jhelioviewer</u> where also a user manual is available. At the time of this writing (May 2016), hunderds of users worldwide have downloaded the application.



Screenshot of a jHelioviewer session showing a log/polar projection of a ROB/USET Halpha image (grey, note the sunspot) and the off-limb counterpart by PROBA2/SWAP. The "FI" labels show the location of filaments as extracted live from the Heliosphysics Event Knowledgebase



# Partial Solar Eclipse, March 20, 2015: A science party for everyone!

On Friday March 20, an impressive partial solar eclipse was visible from Belgium between 9:26 UT and 11:47 UT. This eclipse could be seen in its totality only from the Faroe Islands and Svalbard (Norway), and was partial in Europe.

Witnessing a solar eclipse is a rare experience. In the past, a total eclipse was the only way to observe the immediate environment around the Sun and to get an idea of the structure and composition of the solar atmosphere. It made scientists realise how complex and extended the solar atmosphere actually is. Nowadays, we have instruments that can create an artificial eclipse on a permanent base, but they suffer from technical limitations. Observing a solar eclipse in the normal way remains valuable for us scientists as it allows us to calibrate our solar instruments.

But above all, a solar eclipse offers us the opportunity to put our favourite object of study, the Sun, in the picture and to share our enthusiasm.



The clouds obstructed our view at the observation site Uccle. We could capture only one, very nice, White Light image of the eclipse with the USET telescope.



We coordinated an observation campaign so that all our instruments were ready to observe the

The solar eclipse seen from space by the satellite PROBA2. The SWAP telescope pictures the Sun in extreme ultraviolet light.

eclipse from all possible sides. Those that didn't have the chance to observe the eclipse themselves, could follow the spectacle on the eclipse website, <u>http://sidc.be/eclipse2015/</u>, where data, images and movies were put as soon as they were available.

While the optical observations from ground were unfortunately plagued by the cloud cover, the radio telescopes in Humain could observe this event continuously. The PROBA2 satellite was the first to send around images from space, while other satellites were used to track changes in the ionosphere.

At the planetarium, more than 300 children and adults came together to watch the eclipse with their own eyes, through telescopes set up outside, or by looking at images streamed live from our instruments located in Uccle, Humain and space. Our experts were happy to show and explain what an eclipse looks like when observed with radio-antennas from Earth and why our satellite could observe the eclipse up to 4 times that day! The State Secretary for Science Policy, Mrs. Elke Sleurs was definitely impressed. The planetarium was the place to be where radio and television crews found our visitors enthusiastic to tell how they experienced this one-in-a-life-time event and our experts glad to clarify the science behind it.

If you want to look at the March 2015 solar eclipse pictures and movies once more, check <u>http://sidc.be/eclipse2015/index.php</u>.



At the radioastronomy station Humain, we could measure the eclipse with a 6 meter dish, unhampered by the clouds. The radio light flux curves show the rise of the Sun around 07:30UT. During the eclipse, the flux decreases as the Moon passes in front of the Sun.

# **Information services**

The activities related to the information services consist of several tasks: answering questions and inquiries from public and press, assisting in all kind of outreach activities, giving general information on ROB and on astronomy and astronomy related subjects, advising the planetarium, organize the visits to the ROB, including the organization and coordination of open doors days and related activities, all kind of assistance for exhibitions and public relations activities (press communications, press conferences etc.) and preparing of texts for printing or for the web site. (http://www.astro.oma.be/en/news/)

#### Information to public, media and authorities



In 2015 the scientific information service of the ROB had to answer to about 965 questions from the public sent to the ROB by email (about 510, not included the ones related to visits or visit requests), telephone (more then 350) or by letter or fax (105). As usual most were about sunset and sunrise, twilights, equinoxes and solstitia, horizontal coordinates of sun and moon, the amount of shadow, sun dials, moon rise and set, moon phases, eclipses in 2015 and other years, all sort of calendar

topics (Easter dates, beginning and end of Ramadan, time keeping, time zones, ...) tides, star maps and visibility of constellations over the world, comets now and in history, Mars, Venus and other planets in the sky, fireballs, meteors, UFOs, satellite re-entries, candidate meteorites, information about historical scientific instruments, the profession of astronomer, external influences (sun, planets, universe,...) on climate change, structure of the universe, on satellites and space missions, photographs and images of the Observatory, history of the observatory, amateur astronomy associations and public observatories, planets and the moon, atmospheric halos, goniometry and positional astronomy, names of asteroids, giving and/or registering of stars names, adopting or buying stars, black holes, etc..

In 2015 there was a lot of interest from the public and the media, but also from within the

Observatory, for the partial eclipse of sun on March 20. Information about this was given to the press (see A.3.2) but also to personnel and visitors. The topic on the web site was consulted about 5000 times. SIDC and the Planetarium have dedicated activities on this occasion.

Questions about the sun and its influence on earth (space weather etc.); about seismology, gra-vimetry and GPS, about asteroids and impact of asteroids on earth were forwarded to



other sections of the observatory. Questions about weather and climate were sent to the Meteorological Institute and those about space travel and aeronomy to the Belgian Institute for Aeronomy.



Information to the media (TV, radio and written press) was given by the service on numerous occasions. Other members of the ROB appeared in news items on other topics (Solar activity, space weather, seismic activity, Mars, comets and mission Rosetta, exoplanets ...).

As each year groups and individual visitors had to be guided in the Observatory this year. The individual visitors were mainly journalists and other media related persons or amateur astronomers with a specific demand and/or students. Groups were, in general, received on

the first Tuesday of the month. In order to give some idea on the work load: there were in 2015 26 groups visiting and more than 580 emails (in/out) related to visits or inquiries. We welcomed, amongst other groups, the Brussels Expat Club, personnel of the EU Satellite Navigation Programme

Unit, members and invitees of CD&V Brussels, the president of MR and collaborators, participants of the colloquium "Hydrology, Geophysics and Geodesy – HG<sup>2</sup>, a new way to manage water resources?", Applied Physics students of the University of Twente, and a group of Belgian pupils and officials of the German speaking community.

### Website

There is no consistent information on the number of visitors to our webpages directly available. Probably the statistics of the previous years are still valid, but there is no guarantee: many of the web pages of the information services had about 1000 visitors per months (depending on the season). Pages on sun rise and sun set, moon phases, daylight saving time, or date of Easter ... had before a large number of hits per month, but this seems not the case anymore. In March there was an increase in web visitors because of the solar eclipse.

The content of web pages with the answers to frequently asked questions was regularly updated. For 2015, the pages on daylight saving time and on the Islamic calendar (Ramadan) had at least one update or revision. New data about the position of the sun during the year were added.

The Dutch versions of the pages on the celestial phenomena of the month (information given by R. Dejaiffe, put on the web by H. Langenaken) were revised on a regular basis.

J. Cuypers initiated or assisted in putting new items, as e.g. press releases or announcements on the news pages of the ROB. In 2015 there were 15 topics published.

#### **Mons superstar**

The exhibition "Mons Superstar", one of the events of Mons 2015, European Captial of Culture, highlighted several famous inhabitants of this City. Since Jean-Charles Houzeau, the second director of the ROB is one of them, the Observatory provided documentation on Houzeau and put the heliometer at the disposal of the exhibition. An old picture of the heliometer figured also on the publicity for this exhibition.



## Archive digitization

Information on archives, archiving and the archives of the ROB were distributed. The website was updated (<u>http://archief-as.oma.be/</u>). A lot of documents and photographs were digitized: 200000 scans of 19th century administration and the oldest annals, already scanned in 2014 were finalised and put in the database. The scan of 90000 other documents (old, annuaries, annals and other publications from the beginning of the 20th century started. 8000 photoslides and 3000 photographs were scanned at ROB b y M. Schulmann (funded by Art. 60 till August 2015), but most of the work related to this topic was done by H. Langenaken and she followed the appropriate courses and information sessions.

Funding was by different large and small digitisation projects, details still to be added.

# **The Planetarium**



#### New attendance record for the Internet site of the Planetarium



The Planetarium's website (www.planetarium.be) brook its 2014 record by being visited 168,112 times (106,046 unique visitors, 2,198,901 hits). It was most viewed during school holidays, which shows that it is used to prepare a family visit, setting the Planetarium as a recognized family outing destination.

#### Presentation of Belgian scientific results of Rosetta

On February 27, Belgian scientist's progress and findings thanks to Rosetta spacecraft and Philae lander data were presented to the general public. This was the opportunity to discover the Belgian contribution to this adventure. The session ended with the 360° film screening « Ice Worlds ».



#### Night of the shooting stars

In the evening and night of August 12, 2015 the public was welcome at the Observatory to observe the sky and the shooting ('falling') stars. The Planetarium was the main organiser of this event, with ROB and BISA assisting. Amateur astronomers, individuals and organisations, put telescopes at the disposal of the visitors to observe the sky. BISA showed how to detect meteors with radio signals. The Schmidt telescope could be visited by the public.

The number of visitors was limited to



500 by pre-registration but because of the bad weather not all showed up.



# **Selection CANSat**



The Planetarium hosted the presentation and selection day of the Cansat project. Tens teams of secondary school students presented and defended their project of scientific measurements of the atmosphere, which has to be boarded in a soda can. Laureates can afterwards launch from the Netherlands their experiment in a mini-spacecraft.

# **ASGARD Project**

The ESERO office and its partners organised the 2015 session of the ASGARD project. This allows secondary school students to prepare science experiments mounted in a stratospheric balloon. The launch took place on April 23 from the IRM site.

#### Darkness' Night

As every year since 2009, the Planetarium assembled its partners at Rouge-Cloître to welcome the general public for the Darkness' Night. The evening program consists of observing sessions, conferences, tales in the woods and music under the open sky.





Royal Observatory of Belgium - Annual Report 2015

# Poetry under the stars, Choir Stemmer and Cosmic Nights

In 2015, the Planetarium organized several special evenings which mix arts and sciences. These events are:

- Cosmic Nights on May 29;
- Choir Stemmer on June 6;
- Poetry under the star on Septembre 10, with the collaboration of the non profit association be.poetic





PLANE TARIUM van de Koninklijke Sterrenwacht van België de l'Observatoire royal de Belgique



Poëzie-performance door de dichters a.rawlings (Can en Iceland), Maja Jantar (Be), Vincent Tholomé (Be) & Philip Meersman (Be).

# **Annex 1: Publications**

### Publications with peer review

- [1] Aerts W., Bruyninx C., Defraigne P., Vandenbosch G., Zeimetz P.
   Influence of RF absorbing material on the calculated GNSS station position
   GPS Solutions, GPS Solutions, 20(1), 1-7, doi: 10.1007/s10291-014-0428-y, Jan. 2016
- [2] Aragon-Angel A., Hernandez-Pajares M., Defraigne P., Bergeot N. and Prieto-Cerdeira R. Modelling and Assessing Ionospheric Higher Order Terms for GNSS Signals Proceedings of ION GNSS+ 2015, pp. 3511-3524, 2015
- [3] Aschwanden, M. J.; Boerner, P.; Caspi, A.; McTiernan, J. M.; Ryan, D. F.; Warren, H. P.
   Benchmark Test of Differential Emission Measure Codes and Multi-thermal Energies in Solar Active Regions
   Solar Physics vol. 290 pp. 2733-2763 (2015)
- [4] Aschwanden, M. J.; Boerner, P.; Ryan, D. F.; Caspi, A.; McTiernan, J. M.; Warren, H. P.
   Global energetics of solar flares: II. Thermal Energies
   Astrophysical Journal vol. 802:53 (2015)
- [5] Ben Moussa, A.; Giordanengo, B.; Gissot, S.; Dammasch, I.E.; Dominique, M.; Hochedez, J.-F.; Soltani, A.; Bourzgui, N.; Saito, T.; Schühle, U.; Gottwald, A.; Kroth, U.; Jones, A.R. Degradation assessment of LYRA after 5 years on orbit - Technology Demonstration Experimental Astronomy vol. 39 pp. 29-43 (2015)
- [6] Balona L.A., Baran A.S., Daszyńska-Daszkiewicz J., De Cat P.
   Analysis of Kepler B stars: rotational modulation and Maia variables
   2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 451, 1445
- Beuthe M.,
   *Tides on Europa: The membrane paradigm*,
   2015, Icarus, 248pp. 109-134, DOI: 10.1016/j.icarus.2014.10.027
- [8] Beuthe M.,
   *Tidal Love numbers of membrane worlds: Europa, Titan, and Co.,* 2015, Icarus 258, 239-266, DOI: 10.1016/j.icarus.2015.06.008
- [9] Bognár Z., Lampens P., Frémat Y., Southworth J., Sódor Á., De Cat P., Isaacson H. T., Marcy G. W., Ciardi D. R., Gilliland R. L., Martín-Fernández P.
   *KIC 9533489: a genuine γ Doradus δ Scuti Kepler hybrid pulsator with transit events* 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics, 581, A77
- Bostancı Z.F., Ak T., Yontan T., Bilir S., Çakirli Ö., Güver T., Özdarcan O., Ak S., Paunzen E., De Cat P., Fu J.N., Zhang Y., Hou Y., Li G.
   A comprehensive study of the open cluster NGC 6866
   2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 453, 1095
- Boyer M.L., McQuinn K.B.W., Barmby P., Bonanos A.Z., Gehrz R.D., Gordon K.D., Groenewegen M.A.T., Lagadec E., Lennon D., Marengo M., Meixner M., Skillman E., Sloan G.C., Sonneborn G., van Loon J.Th., Zijlstra A.
   An Infrared Census of dust in Nearby Galaxies with Spitzer (dustiNGS), I. Overview 2015, Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series 216, 10
- [12] Boyer M.L., McQuinn K.B.W., Barmby P., Bonanos A.Z., Gehrz R.D., Gordon K.D., Groenewegen M.A.T., Lagadec E., Lennon D., Marengo M., Meixner M., Skillman E., Sloan G.C., Sonneborn G., van Loon J.Th., Zijlstra A. An Infrared Census of dust in Nearby Galaxies with Spitzer (dustiNGS), II. Metal-poor Dusty AGB stars

2015, Astrophysical Journal 800, 51

- Brunsden E., Pollard K.R., Cottrell P.L., Uytterhoeven K., Wright D.J., De Cat P.
   The classification of frequencies in the gamma Doradus / delta Scuti hybrid star HD 49434, 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 447, 2970
- Bruyninx C., Z. Altamimi, E. Brockmann, A. Caporali, R. Dach, J. Dousa, R. Fernandes, M. Gianniou, H. Habrich, J. Ihde, L. Jivall, A. Kenyeres, M. Lidberg, R. Pacione, M. Poutanen, K. Szafranek, W. Söhne, G. Stangl, J. Torres, C. Völksen
   *Implementation of the ETRS89 in Europe: Current status and challenges* International Association of Geodesy Symposia Series, Vol. 146 (in press)
- [15] Caporali A., Bruyninx C., Fernandes R., Ganas A., Kenyeres A., Lidberg M., Stangl G., Steffen H., Zurutuza J.
   Stress drop at the Kephalonia Transform Zone estimated from the 2014 seismic sequence Tectonophysics, DOI: 10.1016/j.tecto.2015.11.004 (in press)
- [16] Carrasco, Victor; Lefèvre, L.; Vaquero, J.M.; Gallego, Maricruz
   Equivalence relations between the Cortie and Zurich sunspot group morphological classifications
   Solar Physics vol. 290 pp. 1445-1455 (2015)
- [17] Caudron C., Lecocq T., Syahbana D. K., McCausland W., Watlet A., Camelbeeck T., Bernard A., Surono S.
   Stress and mass changes at a 'wet' volcano: example during the 2011–2012 volcanic unrest at Kawah Ijen volcano (Indonesia) Journal of Geophysical Research 120-7, 5117–5134 (2015)
- [18] Caudron C., Syahbana D. K., Lecocq T., Van Hinsberg V., McCausland W., Triantafyllou A., Camelbeeck T., Bernard A., Surono S.
   Kawah Ijen volcanic activity: a review Bulletin of Volcanology 77-3 (2015)
- [19] Chatzikos M., Williams R.J.R., Ferland G.J., Canning R.E.A., Fabian A.C., Johnstone R.M., Lykins M., Porter R.L., Sanders J.S., van Hoof P.A.M.
   *Implications of Coronal Line Emission in NGC 4696* 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 446, 1234
- [20] Claes H., Soete J., Van Noten K., Erthal M. M., Vanhaecke F., Özkul M., Swennen R. Sedimentology, three-dimensional geobody reconstruction and carbon dioxide origin of Pleistocene travertine deposits in the Ballık area (south-west Turkey) Sedimentology 62, 1408-1445 (2015)
- [21] Clette, F.; Lefèvre, L.; Cagnotti, M.; Cortesi, S.; Bulling, A. *The revised Brussels-Locarno Sunspot Number (1981-2015)* Submitted to Solar Physics (2015)
- [22] Clette, F.; Lefèvre, L.
   The new Sunspot Number: assembling all corrections Submitted to Solar Physics (2015)
- [23] Clette, F.; Svalgaard, L.; Vaquero, J.M.; Cliver, E.W.
   *Revisiting the Sunspot Number* The Solar Activity Cycle, Space Sciences Series of ISSI, Volume 53. ISBN 978-1-4939-2583-4.
   Springer Science+Business Media New York, 2015 pp. 35 (2015)
- [24] Cliver, E.W.; Clette, F.; Svalgaard, L.; Vaquero, J.M., *Recalibrating the Sunspot Number (SN): The 3rd and 4th SN Workshops* Central European Astrophysical Bulletin vol. 39 pp. 1-19 (2015)

[25] Cook-Hallett C., Barnes J., Kattenhorn S., Hurford T., Radebaugh J., Stiles B., and Beuthe M., Global Contraction/Expansion and Polar Lithospheric Thinning on Titan from Patterns of Tectonism, 2015 J. Country Dec. 120, 1220, DOL 10, 1002 (2011) 500 (15)

2015, J. Geophys. Res., 120, 1220-1236, DOI: 10.1002/2014JE004645

- [26] De Cat P., Fu J.N., Ren A.B., Yang X.H., Shi J.R., Luo A.L., Zhang H.T., Shi H.M., Zhang W., Catanzaro G., Corbally C.J., Frasca A., Gray R.O., Molenda-Żakowicz J., Uytterhoeven K., Briquet M., Bruntt H., Frandsen S., Kiss L., Kurtz D.W., Marconi M., Niemczura E., Østensen R.H., Ripepi V., Smalley B., Southworth J., Szabó R., Telting J.H., Karoff C., Silva Aguirre V, Wu Y., Hou Y.H., Jin G., Zhou X.L. LAMOST observations in the Kepler field. Database of low-resolution spectra 2015, Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series 220, 19
- [27] Defraigne P., Aerts W., Pottiaux E.
   Monitoring of UTC(k)'s using PPP and IGS real-time products
   GPS Solutions, January 2015, Volume 19, Issue 1, pp 165-172, 10.1007/s10291-014-0377-5
- [28] P. Defraigne and G. Petit CGGTTS-Version 2E: an extended standard for GNSS Time Transfer Metrologia 52 (6), G1, 2015
- [29] P. Defraigne and J.-M. Sleewaegen,
   *Code-Phase Clock Bias and frequency offset in PPP clock solutions,* IEEE Trans. On Ultrasonic Ferroelec. Freq. Contr., 2015. DOI 10.1109/TUFFC.2015.2501350
- [30] Dehant V., and Mathews P.M., *Earth Rotation Variations,* 2015, Treatise on Geophysics, 2nd edition, Ed. Gerald Schubert, Volume 3 Geodesy, Section 3.10, ISBN: 9780444538024
- [31] Del Zanna, Luca; Matteini, L.; Landi, S.; Verdini, A.; Velli, M. Parametric decay of parallel and oblique Alfvén waves in the expanding solar wind Journal of Plasma Physics vol. 81 pp. 3202 (2015)
- [32] De Visscher, R.; Delouille, V.; Dupont, P.; Deledalle, C.
   Supervised classification of solar Features using prior information Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate vol. 5 pp. A34 (2015)
- [33] Drews R., Matusoka K., Martín C., Callens D., Bergeot N. and Pattyn F. Sustained thinning over millennia of an ice rise in East Antarctica
   J. Geophys. Res Earth Surf, 10.1002/2014JF003246, 2015
- [34] Dumberry M., and Rivoldini A.,
   Mercury's inner core size and core-crystallisation regime,
   2015, Icarus, 248(3), pp. 254-268, DOI: 10.1016/j.icarus.2014.10.038
- [35] Dumbovic, M.; Devos, A.; Vrsnak, B.; Sudar, D.; Rodriguez, L.; Ruzdjak, D.; Leer, K.; Vennerstrom, S.; Veronig, A. M.; Robbrecht, E. Geoeffectiveness of Coronal Mass Ejections in the SOHO era Solar Physics vol. 290(2) pp. 579-612 (2015)
- [36] Franci, L.; Landi, S.; Matteini, L.; Verdini, A.; Hellinger, P.
   *High-resolution hybrid simulations of kinetic plasma turbulence at proton scales* Astrophysical Journal vol. 812 pp. 21 (2015)
- [37] Franci, L.; Verdini, A.; Matteini, L.; Landi, S.; Hellinger, P.
   Solar Wind Turbulence from MHD to Sub-ion Scales: High-resolution Hybrid Simulations Astrophysical Journal Letters vol. 804 pp. L39 (2015)

- [38] Francis O., Baumann H., Ullrich C., Castelein S., Van Camp M., Andrade de Sousa M., Lima Melhorato R., Li C., Xu J., Su D., Wu D., Hu H., Wu K., Li G., Li Z., Hsieh W.-C., Palinkas V., Kostelecky J., Mäkinen J., Näränen J., Merlet S., Pereira Dos Santos F., Gillot P., Hinderer J., Bernard J.-D., Le Moigne N., Fores B., Gitlein Olga, Schilling M., Falk R., Wilmes H., Germak A., Biolcati E., Origlia C., Lacovone D., Baccaro F., Mizushima S., De Plaen R., Klein G., Seil M., Radinovic R., Sekowski M., Dykowski P., Choi I.-M., Kim M.-S., Borreguero A., Sainz-Maza S., Calvo M., Engfeldt A., Agren J., Reudink R., Eckl M., van Westrum D., Billson R., Ellis B. *CCM.G-K2 key comparison* Metrologia 52, 07009 (2015)
- [39] Grebowsky J., Fast K., Talaat E., Combi M., Crary F., England S., Ma Y., Mendillo M., Rosenblatt P., Seki K., Stevens M., and Withers P.,
   Science Enhancements by the MAVEN Participating Scientists,
   2015, Space Science Reviews, Vol. 195, issue 1-4, pp. 319-355, 2015
- [40] Grevesse, N., Scott, P., Asplund, M., and Sauval, A. J., *The elemental composition of the Sun. III. The heavy elements Cu to Th*, 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics, 573, A27
- [41] Guennou, C; Rachmeler, L. A. Seaton, D.B.; Auchere, F. *Lifecycle of a large-scale polar coronal pseudostreamer/cavity system* Submitted to Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences (2015)
- [42] Hajduk M., van Hoof P.A.M., Zijlstra A.A.
   Evolution of the central stars of young planetary nebulae
   2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics, 573, A65
- [43] Harmanec P., Koubský P., Nemravová J. A., Royer F., Briot D., North P., Lampens P., Frémat Y., Yang S., Božić H., Kotková L., Škoda P., Šlechta M., Korčáková D., Wolf M., Zasche P. Properties and nature of Be stars. 30. Reliable physical properties of a semi-detached B9.5e+G8III binary BR CMi = HD 61273 compared to those of other well studied semi-detached emission-line binaries 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics, 573, A107
- [44] Hees A., Bailey Q.G., Le Poncin-Lafitte C., Bourgoin A., Rivoldini A., Lamine B., Meynadier F., Guerlin C., and Wolf P., *Testing Lorentz symmetry with planetary orbital dynamics*, 2015, Physical Review D, 2015,10.1103/PhysRevD.92.064049
- [45] Hees A., Bailey Q. G., Le Poncin-Lafitte C., Bourgoin A., Rivoldini A., Lamine B., Meynadier F., Guerlin C., Wolf P.,
   *Testing Lorentz symmetry with planetary orbital dynamics*,
   2015, Physical Review D, Volume 92, Issue 6, id.064049, 10.1103/PhysRevD.92.064049
- [46] Hellinger, P. ; Matteini, L.; Landi, S.; Verdini, A.; Franci, L.; Travnícek, P. Plasma Turbulence and kinetic instabilities at ion scales in the expanding solar wind Astrophysical Journal Letters vol. 811 pp. L32 (2015)
- [47] W. Huang and P. Defraigne,
   CGGTTS Results with BeiDou Using the R2CGGTTS
   IEEE Trans. On Ultrasonic Ferroelec. Freq. Contr., 2015. (in press)
- [48] Inglis, Andrew; Ireland, Jack; Dominique, M.
   Quasi-periodic pulsations in solar and stellar flares: re-evaluating their nature in the context of power-law flare Fourier spectra
   Astrophysical Journal vol. 798 (2015)

- [49] Inno L., Matsunaga N., Romaniello M., Bono G., Monson A., Ferraro I., Iannicola G., Persson E., Buonanno R., Freedman W., Gieren W., Groenewegen M.A.T., Ita Y., Laney C.D., Lemasle B., Madore B. F., Nagayama T., Nakada Y., Nonino M., Pietrzynski G., Primas F., Scowcroft V., Soszynski I., Tanabe T., Udalski A. *New NIR light-curve templates for classical cepheids* 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics 576, A30
- [50] Jackson, R. J., Jeffries, R. D., Lewis, J., Koposov, S. E., Sacco, G. G., ..., Blomme, R., ...
   (61 authors)
   The Gaia-ESO Survey: Empirical determination of the precision of stellar radial velocities and projected rotation velocities
   2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics 580, A75
- [51] Knuts E., Camelbeeck T., Alexandre P.
   The 3 December 1828 moderate earthquake at the border between Belgium and Germany
   Published online on 8 novembre 2015 in Journal of Seismology DOI 10.107/s10950-01 (2015).
- [52] Kraaikamp, E.; Verbeeck, C.
   Solar Demon an approach to detecting flares, dimmings, and EUV waves on SDO/AIA images Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate vol. 5 pp. A18 (2015)
- [53] Krischer L., Megies T., Beyreuther M., Lecocq T., Caudron C., Wassermann J. ObsPy: a bridge for seismology into the scientific Python ecosystem Computational Science & Discovery 8, 1 (2015)
- [54] Lanzafame, A. C., Frasca, A., Damiani, F., Franciosini, E., Cottaar, M., ..., Blomme, R., ...
   (73 authors)
   *Gaia-ESO Survey: Analysis of pre-main sequence stellar spectra* 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics 576, A80
- [55] Lefèvre, L.; Vennerstrom, S.; Dumbovic, M.; Vrsnak, B.; Sudar, D.; Arlt, Rainer; Clette, F.; Crosby, N. B.
   Detailed Analysis of solar data related to historical extreme geomagnetic storms: 1868-2010 Submitted to Solar Physics (2015)
- [56] Lykins, M. L., Ferland, G. J., Kisielius, R., Chatzikos, M., Porter, R. L., van Hoof, P. A. M., Williams, R. J. R., Keenan, F. P., and Stancil, P. C., Stout: *Cloudy's Atomic and Molecular Database*, 2015, The Astrophysical Journal, 807, 118
- [57] Matsuura M., Dwek E., Barlow M.J., Babler B., Baes M., Meixner M., Cernicharo J., Clayton G.C., Dunne L., Fransson C., Fritz J., Gear W., Gomez H.L., Groenewegen M.A.T., Indebetouw R., Ivison R.J., Jerkstrand A., Lebouteiller V., Lim T.L., Lundqvist P., Pearson C.P., Roman-Duval J, Royer P., Staveley-Smith L., Swinyard B.M., van Hoof P.A.M., van Loon J.Th., Verstappen J., Wesson R., Zanardo G., Blommaert J.A.D.L., Decin L., Reach W.T., Sonneborn G., Van de Steene G.C., Yates J.A. *A stubbornly large mass of cold dust in the ejecta of Supernova 1987A* 2015, Astrophysical Journal 800, 50
- [58] McDonald I., Zijlstra A.A., Lagadec E., Sloan G.C., Boyer M.L., Matsuura M., Smith R.J., Smith C.L., Yates J.A., van Loon J.Th., Jones O.C., Ramstedt S., Avison A., Justtanont K., Olofsson H., Blommaert J.A.D.L, Goldman S.R., Groenewegen M.A.T. *ALMA reveals sunburn: CO dissociation around agb stars in the globular cluster 47 Tucanae* 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 453, 4324
- [59] Meftah, M.; Irbah, A.; Hauchecorne, A.; Corbard, T.; Turck-Chièze, S.; Hochedez, J.-F.; Boumier,
   P.; Chevalier, A.; Dewitte, S.; Mekaoui, S.; Salabert, D.
   On the Determination and Constancy of the Solar Oblateness

Solar Physics vol. 290 pp. 673-687 (2015)

- [60] Moon, K.; Delouille, V.; Hero III, A.O.
   Meta learning of bounds on the Bayes classifier error
   Proceeding of IEEE Signal Processing and SP Education workshop (2015)
- [61] Morel L., Pottiaux E., Durand F., Fund F., Boniface K., de Olivera Junior P. S., Van Baelen J Validity and behaviour of tropospheric gradients estimated by GPS in Corsica Advances in Space Research 55, January 2015, issue 1, 135-149, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.asr.2014.10.004
- [62] Moreno D. G., Verbeeck K., Camelbeeck T., De Batist M., Oggioni F., Zurita Hurtado O., Versteeg W., Jomard H., Collier J.S., Gupta S., Trentesaux A., Vanneste K. Fault activity in the epicentral area of the 1580 Dover Strait (Pas-de-Calais) earthquake (northwestern Europe) Geophysical Journal International 201, 528-542 (2015)
- [63] Morosan, D. E.; Gallagher, P.T.; Zucca, P.; O'Flannagain, A.M.; Fallows, R.; Reid, H.; Magdalenic, J.; Mann, G.; Bisi, M.; Kerdraon, A.; Konovalenko, A.A.; MacKinnon, A.; Rucker, H.O.; Thidé, B.; Vocks, C.; Alexov, A.; Anderson, J.; Asgekar, J.; Avruch, I. M.; Bentum, M.J.; Bernardi, G.; Bonafede, A.; Breitling, F.; Broderick, J.; Brouw, W.N.; Butcher, H. R.; Ciardi, B.; de Geus, E.; Eislöffel, J.; Falcke, H.; Frieswijk, W.; Garrett, M. A.; Grießmeier, J.; Gunst, A. W.; Hessels, J. W. T.; Hoeft, M.; Karastergiou, A.; Kondratiev, V. I.; Kuper, G.; van Leeuwen, J.; McKay-Bukowski, D.; McKean, J. P.; Munk, H.; Orru, E.; Paas, H.; Pizzo, R.; Polatidis, A. G.; Scaife, A. M. M.; Sluman, J.; Tasse, C.; Toribio, C.; Vermeulen, R.; Zarka, P. *"LOFAR tied-array imaging and spectroscopy of solar S bursts"* Astronomy Astrophysics vol. 580 pp. A65 (2015)
- [64] Möstl, Christian; Rollett, T.; Frahm, R.A.; Liu, Ying D.; Long, D.M.; Colaninno, R.; Reiss, M.A.; Temmer, M.; Farrugia, C.J.; Posner, Arik; Dumbovic, M.; Janvier, M.; Demoulin, P.; Boakes, P.; Devos, A.; Kraaikamp, E.; Mays, M.L.; Vrsnak, B.
   Strong coronal channeling and interplanetary Q1 evolution of a solar storm up to the Earth and the Mars
   Nature Communications vol. 6 (2015)
- [65] Neiner, C., Lampens, P.
   *First discovery of a magnetic field in a normal main-sequence δ Scuti star: the Kepler star HD 188774* 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society Letters, 454, 86
- [66] Niemczura, E.; Murphy, S. J.; Smalley, B.; Uytterhoeven, K.; Pigulski, A.; Lehmann, H.; Bowman, D. M.; Catanzaro, G.; van Aarle, E.; Bloemen, S.; Briquet, M.; De Cat, P.; Drobek, D.; Eyer, L.; Gameiro, J. F. S.; Gorlova, N.; Kamiński, K.; Lampens, P.; Marcos-Arenal, P.; Pápics, P. I.; Vandenbussche, B.; Van Winckel, H.; Stęślicki, M.; Fagas, M.
   Spectroscopic survey of Kepler stars. I. HERMES/Mercator observations of A- and F-type stars 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 450, 2764
- [67] Noack L., Rivoldini A., and Van Hoolst T., *CHIC Coupling Habitability, Interior and Crust: A new Code for Modeling the Thermal Evolution of Planets and Moons,*2015, in: Conference paper at INFOCOMP 2015, 21-26 June 2015, Brussels, Belgium, ISSN 2308-3484, Copyright (c) IARIA, ISBN 978-1-61208-416-9, pp. 84-90
- [68] Noack L., Verseux C., Serrano P., Musilova M., Nauny P., Samuels T., Schwendner P., Simoncini E., and Stevens A.,
   Astrobiology from Early-Career Scientists' Perspective,

2015, International Journal of Astrobiology, Cambridge University Press, 14(04), 533-535, DOI: 10.1017/S1473550415000233

- [69] Pant, Vaibhav; Dolla, L.; Mazumder, Rakesh; Banerjee, D.; Prasad, S. K.; Panditi, Vemareddy Dynamics of on-disc plumes as observed with the Interface Region Imaging Spectrograph, the Atmospheric Imaging Assembly, and the Helioseismic and Magnetic Imager Astrophysical Journal vol. 807 pp. 71 (2015)
- [70] Parenti, S.
   Spectral Diagnostics of Cool Prominence and PCTR Optically Thin Plasmas
   In Solar Prominences, Astrophysics and Space Science Library vol. 415 pp. 61 (2015)
- [71] Pasachoff, J.M.; Rusin, V.; Saniga, M.; Babcock, B. A.; Lu, M.; Davis, A.B.; Dantowitz, R.; Gaintatzis, P.; Seiradakis, J.H.; Voulgaris, A.; Seaton, D.B.; Shiota, K. Structure and Dynamics of the 2012 November 13/14 Eclipse White-light Corona Astrophysical Journal vol. 800 (2015)
- [72] Pauwels, T. 6 positions of asteroids, 2015, MPS 560946
- [73] Rau G., Paladini C., Hron J., Aringer B., Groenewegen M. A. T., Nowotny W. Modelling the atmosphere of the carbon-rich Mira RU Vir 2015, Astronomy Astrophysics 583, A106
- [74] Reiss, M.A.; Hofmeister, S.J.; De Visscher, R.; Temmer, M.; Veronig, A. M.; Delouille, V.; Mampaey, B.; Ahammer, H.
   *Improvements on coronal hole detection in SDO/AIA images using supervised classification* Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate vol. 5 pp. A23 (2015)
- [75] Riebel D., Boyer M.L., Srinivasan S., Whitelock P., Meixner M., Babler B., Feast M., Groenewegen M.A.T., Ita Y., Meade M., Shiao B., Whitney B. SAGE-Var: An Infrared Survey of Variability in the Magellanic Clouds 2015, Astrophysical Journal 807, 1
- [76] Ripepi V., Moretti M.I., Marconi M., Clementini G., Cioni M.-R.L., de Grijs R., Emerson J.-P., Groenewegen M.A.T., Ivanov V.D., Oliveira J.M., Piatti A.E., Subramanian S. *The VMC Survey XIII. Type-II Cepheids in the Large Magellanic Cloud* 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 446, 3034
- [77] Robert, V., Lainey, V., Pascu, D., Pasewaldt, A., Arlot, J.-E., De Cuyper, J.-P., Dehant, V., Thuillot, W. *A new astrometric measurement and reduction of USNO photographic observations of Phobos and Deimos: 1967-1997*2015, Astronomy & Astrophysics, 582, A36, 8 pp.
- [78] Rodriguez, L.; Masías-Meza, Jimmy Joel; Dasso, S.; Demoulin, P.; Zhukov, A.N.; Gulisano, A. M.; Mierla, M.; Kilpua, E.; West, M.; Lacatus, D.; Paraschiv, A. R.; Janvier, M.
   *Typical Profiles and Distributions of Plasma and Magnetic Field Parameters in Magnetic Clouds at 1 AU* Submitted to Solar Physics (2015)
- [79] Rubele S., Girardi L., Kerber L., Cioni M.-R., Piatti A.E., Zaggia S., Bekki K., Bressan A., Clementini G., de Grijs R., Emerson J.P, Groenewegen M.A.T., Ivanov V.D., Marconi M., Moretti M.-I., Ripepi V., Subramanian S., Tatton B.L., van Loon J.Th. *The VMC Survey - XIV. First results on the look-back time star-formation rate tomography of the Small Magellanic Cloud* 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 449, 639

- [80] Scott, P., Asplund, M., Grevesse, N., Bergemann, M., and Sauval, A. J., The elemental composition of the Sun. II. The iron group elements Sc to Ni, 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics, 573, A26
- [81] Scott, P., Grevesse, N., Asplund, M., Sauval, A. J., Lind, K., Takeda, Y., Collet, R., Trampedach, R., and Hayek, W.,
   The elemental composition of the Sun. I. The intermediate mass elements Na to Ca, 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics, 573, A25
- [82] Smalley B., Niemzcura E., Murphy S.J., Lehmann H., Kurtz D.W., Holdworth D.L., Cunha M., Balona L.A., Briquet M., Bruntt H., De Cat P., Lampens P., Thygesen A.O., Uytterhoeven K. *KIC 4768731: a bright long-period roAp star in the Kepler field* 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 452, 3334
- [83] Spica Z., Caudron C., Perton M., Lecocq T., Camelbeeck T., Legrand D., Pina-Flores J., Iglesias A., Syahbana D. K. Velocity models and site effects at Kawah Ijen volcano and Ijen caldera (Indonesia) determined from ambient noise cross-correlations and directional energy density spectral ratios Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research 302, 173-189 (2015)
- [84] Stein S., Liu M., Camelbeeck T., Merino M., Landgraf A., Hintersberger E., Kuebler S. Challenges in assessing seismic hazard in intraplate Europe Geological Society Special Publication 432 (2015)
- [85] Strugarek, A.; Janitzek, Nils; Lee, Arrow; Löschl, Philipp; Seifert, Bernhard; Hoilijoki, Sanni; Kraaikamp, E.; Isha Mrigakshi, Alankrita; Philippe, Thomas; Spina, Sheila; Bröse, Malte; Massahi, Sonny; OHalloran, Liam; Pereira Blanco, Victor; Stausland, Christoffer; Escoubet, Philippe; Kargl, Günter
   A Space Weather mission concept: Observatories of the Solar Corona and Active Regions (OSCAR) Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate vol. 5 pp. A4 (2015)
- [86] Suveges M., Guy L.P., Eyer L., Cuypers J., Holl B., Lecoeur-Taibi I., Mowlavi N., Nienartowicz K., Ordone-Blanco D., Rimoldini L., Ruiz I.,
   *A comparative study of four significance measures for periodicity detection in astronomical surveys,* 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 450, 2052
- [87] Tosi N., Stein C., Noack L., Huettig C., Maierova P., Samuel H., Davies D.R., Wilson C.R., Kramer S.C., Thieulot C., Glerum A., Fraters M., Spakman W., Rozel A., and Tackley P.J., A community benchmark for viscoplastic thermal convection in a 2-D square box, 2015, Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst., 16, 2175-2196, DOI:10.1002/2015GC005807
- [88] Vamvatira-Nakou C., Hutsemekers D., Royer P., Cox N.L.J., Naze Y., Rauw G., Waelkens C., Groenewegen M.A.T.
   The Herschel view of the nebula around the luminous blue variable star AG Carinae 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics 578, A108
- [89] Vandaele A. C., Neefs E., Drummond R., Thomas I. R., Daerden F., Lopez-Moreno J.-J., Rodriguez J., Patel M. R., Bellucci G., Allen M., Altieri F., Bolsée D., Clancy T., Delanoye S., Depiesse C., Cloutis E., Fedorova A., Formisano V., Funke B., Fussen D., Geminale A., Gérard J.-C., Giuranna M., Ignatiev N., Kaminski J., Karatekin O., Lefèvre F., López-Puertas M., López-Valverde M., Mahieux A., McConnell J., Mumma M., Neary L., Renotte E., Ristic B., Robert S., Smith M., Trokhimovsky S., Vander Auwera J., Villanueva G., Whiteway J., Wilquet V., and Wolff M.,

Science objectives and performances of NOMAD, a spectrometer suite for the ExoMars TGO mission,

2015, Planetary and Space Science, 119, 233-249, DOI: 10.1016/j.pss.2015.10.003

- [90] Van Genderen, A. M., Nieuwenhuijzen, H., and Lobel, A.,
   An early detection of blue luminescence by neutral PAHs in the direction of the yellow hypergiant HR 5171A?,
   2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics, 583, A98
- [91] Van Hoof P.A.M., Ferland G.J., Williams R.J.R., Volk K., Chatzikos M., Lykins M., Porter R.L. Accurate determination of the free--free Gaunt factor, II - relativistic Gaunt factors 2015, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 449, 2112
- [92] Van Hoolst T., *The rotation of the terrestrial planets,* 2015, Treatise on Geophysics, Vol.10: Planets and Moons, 2nd edition, Ed. Gerald Schubert, Section 10.04, ISBN: 9780444538024
- [93] Van Hove B., Karatekin Ö., Chazot O., and Lacor C.,
  Observing the Martian Atmosphere using Entry Probe Flight Instrumentation,
  2015, in: Review of the VKI Doctoral Research 2013-2014, 13 March 2013, Sint-Genesius-Rode,
  Belgium, in print ISBN 978-2-8716-060-7, Ed. T. Magin, pp. 263-274
- [94] Van Noten K., Lecocq T., K. Shah A., Camelbeeck T.
   Seismotectonic significance of the 2008-2010 Walloon Brabant seismic swarm in the Brabant Massif, Belgium
   Tectonophysics 656, 20-38 (2015)
- [95] Van de Steene G.C., van Hoof P.A.M., Exter K.M.,, Barlow M.J., Cernicharo J., Etxaluze M., Gear W.K., Goicoechea J.R., Gomez H.L., Groenewegen M.A.T., Hargrave P.C., Ivison R.J., Leeks S.J., Lim T.L., Matsuura M., Olofsson H., Polehampton E.T., Swinyard B.M., Ueta T., Van Winckel H., Waelkens C., Wesson R.
   Herschel imaging of dust in the Helix Nebula (NGC 7293) 2015, Astronomy and Astrophysics 574, A134
- [96] Van Reeth, T., Tkachenko, A., Aerts, C., Pápics, P. I., Triana, S. A., Zwintz, K., Degroote, P., De Bosscher, J., Bloemen, S., Schmid, V. S., K. De Smedt, Y. Fremat, A. S. Fuentes, W. Homan, M. Hrudkova, R. Karjalainen, R. Lombaert, P. Nemeth, R. Østensen, G. Van de Steene, J. Vos<sup>1</sup>, G. Raskin, H. Van Winckel, *Gravity-mode Period Spacings as a Seismic Diagnostic for a Sample of γ Doradus Stars from Kepler Space Photometry and High-resolution Ground-based Spectroscopy* 2015, Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series, 218, 27
- [97] Verdini, A.; Grappin, R. Imprints of expansion on the local anisotropy of solar wind turbulence Astrophysical Journal Letters vol. 808 pp. L34 (2015)
- [98] Verdini, A.; Grappin, R.; Hellinger, P. ; Landi, S.; Müller, W.-C Anisotropy of third-order structure functions in MHD turbulence Astrophysical Journal vol. 804 pp. 119-232 (2015)
- [99] West, M.; Seaton, D.B.
   SWAP Observations of Post-flare Giant Arches in the Long-Duration 14 October 2014 Solar Eruption
   Astrophysical Journal Letters vol. 801 pp. L6 (2015)
- [100] Wils, P., Hambsch, F.-J., Vanleenhove, M., Lampens, P., Van Cauteren, P., van de Stadt, I., Pickard, R. D., Van Wassenhove, J., Baillien, A., Dubois, F., and 9 coauthors *Photometry of High-Amplitude Delta Scuti Stars in 2014* 2015, Information Bulletin on Variable Stars, 6150, 1

[101] Zhu P., van Ruymbeke M., Karatekin Ö., Noël J.-P., Thuillier G., Dewitte S., Chevalier A., Conscience C., Janssen E., Meftah M., and Irbah A., *A high dynamic radiation measurement instrument: the Bolometric Oscillation Sensor (BOS)*, 2015, Geoscientific Instrumentation, Methods and Data Systems, 4(1), pp.89-98, DOI: 10.5194/gi-4-89-2015.

#### Publications without peer review

- [102] W. Aerts, P. Defraigne, G. Cerretto,
   State of the Art in Time and Frequency Transfer and user need,
   Technical Note 1 of the project TIME5, accepted by ESA in December 2014.
- [103] Aerts W., Baire Q., Bergeot N., Bruyninx C., Chevalier J.-M., Defraigne P., Legrand J., Pottiaux E., Roosbeek F., Voet P.
   Belgian national report
   Proceedings of the EUREF Symposium 2015, June 3-5, 2015, Leipzig, German, on-line at www.euref.eu
- [104] Aerts W., Baire Q., Bergeot N., Bruyninx C., Chevalier J.-M., Defraigne P., Legrand J., Pottiaux E., Roosbeek F., Voet P.
   National Report of Belgium
   Proceedings EUREF Symposium 2015, June 3-5, 2015, Leipzig, Germany
- [105] Aleman I., Ueta T., Ladjal D., Exter K., Kastner J., Montez R., Tielens X., Chu Y.-H., Izumiura H., McDonald I., Sahai R., Siódmiak N., Szczerba R., van Hoof P.A.M., Villaver E., Vlemmings W., Wittkowski M., Zijlstra A. Herschel Planetary Nebula Survey (HerPlaNS): First Detection of OH+ in Planetary Nebulae American Astronomical Society, AAS Meeting #225, id.108.05
- [106] Baland R.-M., Yseboodt M., and Van Hoolst T.,
   Influence of the tides on the obliquity of Enceladus,
   2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session GP1 on "Outer planets systems", EPSC2015-238, 27 September-2 October 2015
- $\left[ 107\right]$  Beuthe M,
  - Localized bending and heating at Enceladus' south pole, 2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session GP1 on "Outer planets systems", EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, extended abstract EPSC2015-524, September-2 October 2015.
- [108] Beuthe M.,

*Do Titan's tides imply a dense subsurface ocean?,* 2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session GP4 on "Titan's surface and interior", extended abstract EPSC2015-851, September-2 October 2015.

- [109] Beuthe M., Rivoldini A., Trinh A., and Van Hoolst T., Dynamical tides in icy satellites with subsurface oceans,
  2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session GP1 on "Outer planets systems", EPSC2015-479, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [110] Blomme, R., Frémat, Y., Gosset, E., Herrero, A., Lobel, A., Maíz Apellániz, J., Morel, T., Negueruela, I., Semaan, T., Simón-Díaz, S., Volpi, D. *The Gaia-ESO Survey and Massive Stars* New windows on massive stars: asteroseismology, interferometry, and spectropolarimetry. Proceedings IAU Symposium No. 307, Eds. G. Meynet, C. Georgy, J.H. Groh, P. Stee, p. 88-89
- [111] Bruyninx C., Araszkiewicz A., Brockmann E., Kenyeres A., Pacione R., Söhne W., Stangl G., Szafranek K., Völksen C.
   EPN Regional Network Associate Analysis Center Technical Report 2014
   International GNSS Service Technical Report 2014, R. Dach and Y. Jean (eds), Astromonical Institute University of Bern, pp. 89-100
- [112] Clette, F.; Lefèvre, L. The new Sunspot Number: assembling all corrections

eprint arXiv (2015)

- [113] Clette, F.; Lefèvre, L.; Cagnotti, M.; Cortesi, S.; Bulling, A. The revised Brussels-Locarno Sunspot Number (1981-2015) eprint arXiv (2015)
- [114] Clette, F.; Svalgaard, L.; Cliver, E.W.; Vaquero, J.M.; Lefèvre, L. *The new Sunspot and Group Numbers: a full recalibration* IAU General Assembly, Meeting #29, #2249591 (2015)
- [115] Clette, F.; Lefèvre, L. The new Sunspot Number: re-calibration, re-computation and implications for the solar cycle IAU General Assembly, Meeting #29, #2256393 (2015)
- [116] Coyette A., Van Hoolst T., Baland R. M., and Tokano T., Modeling the polar motion of Titan,
   2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session GP4 on "Titan's Surface and Interior", EPSC2015-605, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [117] De Cat P., Fu J.N., Yang X.H., Ren A.B., Frasca A., Molenda-Żakowicz J., Catanzaro G., Gray R.O., Corbally C.J., Shi J.R., Zhang H.T., Luo A.L. LAMOST observations in the Kepler field EPJ Web of Conferences 101, 01011
- [118] P. Defraigne & J.-M. Sleewaegen, *Correction for Code-Phase Clock Bias in PPP* Proc. Of the EFTF-IFCS 2015, Denver, April 12-17, 2015
- [119] P. Defraigne, J.-M. Sleewaegen, D. Matsakis, How Important is it to Synchronize the Internal Process of a GNSS Receiver? Inside GNSS, December 2015, 26-32
- [120] Dehant V., Folgueira M., Puica M., and Van Hoolst T., *Refinements on precession, nutation, and wobble of the Earth,*  2015, Proc. Journées Systèmes de Référence spatio-temporels 2014, Pulkovo Observatory, Russia, 22-24 September 2014, Eds. Z. Malkin and N. Capitaine, pp. 151-154
- [121] Dumoulin C., Tobie G., Verhoeven O., Rosenblatt P., and Rambaux N., *Tidal constraints on the interior of Venus*, 2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session TP3 on "Venus", EPSC2015-594, 27, September-2 October 2015
- [122] Eyer, L. et al. (incl. Cuypers, J.),
   The variability analysis of the Gaia data
   IAU General Assembly, Meeting #29, id.#2257301, Honolulu, Hawaii August 3 14, 2015
- [123] Eyer, L. Evans, D.W. Mowlavi, N., Lanzafame, A. Cuypers, J., De Ridder J., Sarro, L., Clementini, G., Guy, L., Holl, B. Ordonez, D., Nienartowicz, K. Lecoeur-Taibi, I. *The variability processing and analysis of the Gaia Mission,* 2015, GREAT-ITN CONFERENCE: The Milky Way Unravelled by Gaia: GREAT Science from the Gaia Data Releases, 1-5/12/2014, Barcelona, Spain, EAS Publications Series, 67–68, 75-78
- [124] Farah, W., Gebran, M., Paletou, F., Blomme, R. Estimating stellar fundamental parameters using PCA: application to early type stars of GES data SF2A-2015: Proceedings of the Annual meeting of the French Society of Astronomy and

Astrophysics. Eds.: F. Martins, S. Boissier, V. Buat, L. Cambrésy, P. Petit, pp. 3-6

- [125] Fu J.N., De Cat P., Ren A.B., Yang X.H., Catanzaro G., Corbally C.J., Frasca A., Gray R.O., Molenda-Żakowicz J., Shi J.R., Ali L., Zhang H.T. Synergies between spectroscopic and asteroseismic surveys 29th General Assembly of the IAU, #2255363 (invited talk)
- [126] Gillmann C., Golabek G. and Tackley, P.,
  Effects of Giant Impacts on the Mantle and Atmosphere of Terrestrial Planets at Medium and Long Timescales,
  2015, EPSC 2015, , La Cité Internationale des Congrès Nantes Métropole, Nantes, France, 27 September-2 October 2015, extended abstract, EPSC Proceedings, EPSC2015-234, 2 pages.
- [127] Groenewegen M.A.T., Girardi L.
   The period distribution of Cepheids: a test of stellar evolution
   2015, in: The Space Photometry Revolution CoRoT Symposium 3, Kepler KASC-7 Joint
   Meeting, (Toulouse, France, July 2014), Eds R.A. Garcia & J. Ballot, EPJ Web of Conferences,
   Volume 101, id.06027
- [128] Hajduk M., van Hoof P.A.M., Zijlstra A.A.
   Evolution of the Central Stars of Young Planetary Nebulae
   Proceedings of the 19th European White Dwarf Workshop, Montreal, ASP Conf. Ser. 493, 533
- [129] Halain, J.P.; Rochus, P.; Renotte, E.; Hermans, A.; Jacques, L.; Auchere, F.; Berghmans, D.; Harra, L. K.; Schühle, U.; Schmutz, W.; Zhukov, A.N.; Aznar Cuadrado, R.; Delmotte, F.; Dumesnil, C.; Gyo, M.; Kennedy, T.; Smith, P.; Tandy, J.; Mercier, R.; Verbeeck, C. *The Extreme UV Imager telescope on-board the Solar Orbiter mission – Overview of phase C and D* Proceedings SPIE 9604, Solar Physics and Space Weather Instrumentation VI vol. 96040G (2015)
- [130] Heiter, H., Smith, K., Andrae, R., Kordopatis, G., Recio-Blanco, A., Fremat, Y., Lobel, A., Lanzafame, A., Sarro Baro, L.M., Astraatmadja, T., Creevey, O., Kontizas, M., Bellas-Velidis, I., Delchambre, L., Garcia Torres, M., Fustes, D., Manteiga, M., and Drimmel, R. 2015, *CU8 calibration and validation requirements,* Gaia Technical Note on Gaia Livelink No. GAIA-C8-TN-UAO-UH-004-1
- [131] Herald D., et al. (incl., De Cat P., Pauwels T.), Geocentric Occultation Observation Minor Planet Circular No 94440
- [132] Holl, B. et al. (incl. Cuypers, J.),
   Building an automated 100 million+ variable star catalogue for Gaia
   IAU General Assembly, Meeting #29, id.#2256898, Honolulu, Hawaii August 3 14, 2015
- [133] Howe, R.; Clette, F.
   Thomas Cragg Proves to Be a Good Observer Journal of the American Association of Variable Star
   Observers vol. 43 pp. 257 (2015)
- [134] Hrivnak, B. J., Lu, W., Van de Steene, G., Van Winckel, H., Sperauskas, J., Bohlender, D., A Radial Velocity and Light Curve Study of Pulsations and Binarity in Proto-Planetary Nebulae, EAS 71, 127
- [135] Journaux B., and Noack L.,
   2D dynamic model of convection dynamics in a complex ice mantle. Effect of solid/solid phase transition on the chemical exchanges and the habitability of ocean planets,
   2015, Talk at EPSC 2015, EPSC2015-774, Nantes, France, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [136] Lamy, H.; Anciaux, M.; Ranvier, S.; Calders, Stijn; Gamby, M.; Martinez Picar, A.; Verbeeck, C.

Recent advances in the BRAMS network

Proceedings of the International Meteor Conference, Mistelbach, 27 — 30 August 2015 pp. 171-175 (2015)

- [137] Elisabeth Knuts, Pierre Alexandre, Thierry Camelbeeck Le séisme luxembourgeois du 13 avril 1733: nouvelles recherches Ciel et Terre 131, 130-137 (2015).
- [138] Kudryashova M., Rosenblatt P., and Marty J.-C.,
  Phobos mass estimations from MEX and Viking 1 data: influence of different noise sources and estimation strategies,
  2015, Proc. Journées Systèmes de Référence spatio-temporels 2014, Pulkovo Observatory,
  Russia, 22-24 September 2014, Eds. Z. Malkin and N. Capitaine, pp. 100-103
- [139] Lampens, P.; Bognár, Zs.; Frémat, Y.; Sódor, Á.; Vermeylen, L.; De Nutte, R.; Lombaert, R.; De Cat, P.,
   Investigation of the binary fraction among candidate A-F type hybrid stars detected by Kepler EPJ Web of Conferences, Volume 101, id.06043 (poster). In: The Space Photometry Revolution CoRoT Symposium 3, Kepler KASC-7 Joint Meeting, (Toulouse, France, July 2014), Eds R.A. Garcia & J. Ballot
- [140] Lampens, P., Van Cauteren, P. Brightening of Blazar S5 1803+782015 Astronomical Telegram 7988, 1
- [141] Lampens, P., Van Cauteren, P. *64 measurements of Active Galactic Nuclei (AGN)*In: AAVSO AGN Circulars of May 13, May 27, June 3, June 10, Jul 29, Aug 5, Aug 12, Aug 19, Aug 26, Sep 2, Sep 16, Oct 16
- [142] Lee P., Benna M., Britt D., Colaprete A., Davis W., Delory G., Elphic R., Fulsang E., Genova A., Glavin D., Grundy W., Harris W., Hermalyn B., Hine B., Horanyi M., Hamilton D., Johnson R., Jones T., Kempf S., Lewis B., Lim L., Mahaffy P., Marshall J., Michel P., Mittlefehldt D., Montez S., Nguyen Y., Owens B., Pajola M., Park R., Phillips C., Plice L., Poppe A., Riedel J.E., Rivoldini A., Rosenblatt P., Schaible M., Showalter M., Smith H., Sternovsky Z., Thomas P., Yano H., Zolensky M.,

PADME (Phobos and Deimos and Mars Environment): A proposed NASA discovery mission to investigate the two moons of Mars,

2015, 46th LPSC, Woodlands, Texas, USA, March 16-20th 2015, LPI Contribution No. 1832, P. 2856, 2015, extended abstract, 2 pages.

- [143] Le Maistre S., Rosenblatt P., and Rivoldini A., *Phobos interior structure from its gravity field*, 2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session TP1 on "General Planetology: Observations and Simulations", EPSC2015-888, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [144] Ling X., De Cat P.
   The LAMOST-Kepler project: a model of win-win astronomical cooperation An interview with Peter De Cat
   Bulletin of the Chinese Academy of Sciences 29 No. 2, 78
- [145] Lobel A., Martayan C., Corcoran M., Groh J. H., Frémat Y. Discrete absorption components in the massive LBV Binary MWC 314 in proceedings of IAU Symposium 307, 115-116
- [146] Marqué, C.; Monstein, C.; Gallagher, P.T.; Kallunki, J.; Jiricka, Karel Status of solar radio astronomy observatories in Europe CRAF News 29, September 2015 (2015)

- [147] Martinez Picar, A.; Marqué, C.; Anciaux, M.; Lamy, H.
   Directional pattern measurement of the BRAMS beacon antenna system
   Proceedings of the International Meteor Conference, Mistelbach, 27 30 August 2015 pp. 177-179 (2015)
- [148] Martinez Picar, A.; Marqué, C.; Anciaux, M.; Lamy, H.; Ranvier, S.
   Antenna pattern calibration of radio telescopes using an UAV-based device
   2015 International Conference on Electromagnetics in Advanced Applications (ICEAA) pp. 981-984 (2015)
- [149] Molenda-Żakowicz J., De Cat P., Fu J.N., Frasca A., Catanzaro G. The Kepler Field of View Covered with the LAMOST Spectroscopic Observations 29th General Assembly of the IAU, #2250365 (poster)
- [150] Noack L., and Van Hoolst, T.,
   *Geophysical Limitations on the Habitable Zone*,
   2015, Talk at EPSC 2015, EPSC2015-654, Nantes, France, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [151] Noack L., Höning D., Rivoldini A., Heistracher C., Zimov N., Lammer H., Van Hoolst T., and Bredehöft J.H., *Water-rich planets: how habitable is a water layer deeper than on Earth?*,
  2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, oral presentation, Session AB2 on "Planetary Habitability in the Solar System and Beyond", EPSC2015-650, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [152] N. Ozdemir and P. Defraigne Service Infrastructure #6 Specification and Design Deliverable 15.1 for the H2020 project DEMETRA (36 pages)
- [153] N. Ozdemir and P. Defraigne Service Infrastructure #6 Spec. Design & Test Report Deliverable 15.2 for the H2020 project DEMETRA (74 pages)
- [154] Rivoldini A., Van Hoolst T., Dumberry M., and Steinle-Neumann G., Mercury's thermal evolution and core crystallization regime, 2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session TP2 on "Mercury", EPSC2015-570, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [155] Rosenblatt P., and Marty J.C., Using radio-navigation data of ESA's Trace Gas Orbiter (TGO) to improve the Mars' gravity seasonal variations, 2015, 6th Moscow Solar system Symposium, Moscow, Russia, October 5-9th, 2015, extended abstract, 2 pages.
- [156] Rosenblatt P. and Lee P., What can we really say about the origin of Phobos?,
  2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, oral presentation, Session TP1 on "General Planetology: Observations and Simulations", EPSC2015-832, 27 September-2 October 2015.
- [157] Ryan, D. F.; Aschwanden, M. J.; Boerner, P.; Caspi, A.; McTiernan, J. M.; Warren, H. P. Multi-thermal Energies of Solar Flares
   Joint American Astronomical Society/American Geophysical Union Triennial Earth-Sun Summit, meeting #1, #302.15 (2015)
- [158] Ryan, D. F.; Christe, S.; Mumford, S.; Perez-Suarez, D.; Ireland, Jack; Shih, A. Y.; Inglis, Andrew; Liedtke, S.
   SunPy: Solar Physics in Python Joint American Astronomical Society/American Geophysical Union Triennial Earth-Sun Summit, meeting #1, #403.07 (2015)

- [159] Samuels T., Noack L., Verseux C., and Serrano P., *A new network for astrobiology in Europe*,
  2015, Astronomy and Geophysics, 56(2), 2.15-2.17, doi:10.1093/astrogeo/atv060, 2015.
- [160] Semaan, T., Morel, T., Gosset, E., Zorec, J., Frémat, Y., Blomme, R., Lobel, A.
   NGC 3293 revisited by the Gaia-ESO Survey
   New windows on massive stars: asteroseismology, interferometry, and spectropolarimetry.
   Proceedings IAU Symposium No. 307, Eds. G. Meynet, C. Georgy, J.H. Groh, P. Stee, 140-141
- [161] Soltani, A.; Talbi, A.; Gerbedoen, J-C; Mortet, V.; Maher, H.; Bourzgui, N.; BenMoussa, A.
   High performance AIN-based surface acoustic wave sensors on TiN on (100) Silicon substrate
   8th Global Symposium on Millimeter-Waves (GSMM) 2015 Montreal, Quebec, Canada (2015)
- P. Tavella, I. Sesia, G. Cerretto, G. Signorile, D. Calonico, E. Cantoni, C. De Stefano, V.
   Formichella, R. Costa, L. Rotiroti, A. Simonetti, P. Defraigne, W. Aerts, M. Gandara, P. L. Puech, V. Hamoniaux, E. Varriale, Q. Morante, T. Widomski, J. Kaczmarek, A. Cernigliaro, A. Samperi, V. Dhiri, E. Giulianini, M.T. Veiga, T. Suárez, M.Mangiantini, W. Anders, L. Galleani, D. Hindley, *The Horizon 2020 DEMETRA project: DEMonstrator of EGNSS services based on Time Reference Architecture,*

Proc. Of the IEEE International Workshop on Metrology for Aerospace, 2015, Benevento, Italy, DOI: 10.1109/MetroAeroSpace.2015.7180634.

- [163] Thuillot W., Lainey V., Arlot J.E., Dehant V., Oberst J., Rosenblatt P., Vermeersen B., Dirkx D., Gurvits L.I., Cimo G., Marty J.C., Hussmann H., Thouvenin N., Meunier L.E., Normand J., De Cuyper J.P., Rambaux N., and Pasewaldt A., *The data distribution of the ESPaCE project*, 2015, EPSC 2015, La Cité Internationale des Congrès Nantes Métropole, Nantes, France, 27 September-2 October 2015, extended abstract, EPSC Proceedings, EPSC2015-875, 2 pages
- [164] Thuillot W., Lainey V., Meunier L.E., Normand J., Arlot J.E., Dehant V., Oberst J., Rosenblatt P., Vermeersen B., Dirkx D., Gurvits L., Marty J.C., Hussmann H., and the FP7-ESPaCE team, *Data mining, ingestion and distribution of planetary data on natural satellites,* 2015, ADASS XXIV, Proceedings of a conference held on 5-9<sup>th</sup> October 2014 at Calgary, Alberta, Canada. Eds. Taylor A.R. and Rosolowsky E., San Francisco: Astronomical Society of the Pacific, pp. 583-586.
- [165] Tomezzoli, G.; Verbeeck, C.
   No sign of the 2014 Daytime Sextantids and mass indexes determination from radio observations
   Proceedings of the International Meteor Conference 2015 (eds. J.-L. Rault, P. Roggemans) pp. 165-170 (2015)
- [166] Van Eck, S., Merle, T., Jorissen, A., Van Winckel, H., Gorlova, N., Vos, J., Exter, K., Oestensen, R., Van de Steene, G. C.
   *Binarity among C-enriched and related stars* Proceedings of "Why Galaxies Care about AGB Stars III: A Closer Look in Space and Time", eds Kerschbaum, F., Wing, R. F., Hron, J., 2015, ASPC, 497, 169
- [167] Van Hoof P.A.M., Kimeswenger S., Van de Steene G.C., Zijlstra A.A., Hajduk M., Herwig F. *The Very Fast Evolution of the VLTP Object V4334 Sgr*  Proceedings of the 19th European White Dwarf Workshop, Montreal, eds. Dufour, P., Bergeron, P. Fontaine, G.,2015, ASPC, 493, 95
- [168] Van Hoof, P. A. M., Van de Steene, G. C., Kimeswenger, S., Zijlstra, A. A., Hadjuk, M., Herwig, F., *The Very Fast Evolution of V4334 Sgr,* EAS 71, 287
- [169] Van Hoolst T., Baland R.-M., Yseboodt M., and Trinh A., Longitudinal librations of Titan and Enceladus,
   2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, oral presentation, Session GP1 on "Outer planets systems", EPSC2015-659, 27 September-2 October 2015
- [170] Van Hove B., and Karatekin Ö.,
  Atmospheric Reconstruction Method applied to MSL Heat Shield Pressure Data,
  2015, 12th International Planetary Probe Workshop, 15-19 June 2015, Köln, Germany,
  extended abstract
- [171] Van Noten K., Lecocq T., Camelbeeck T.
  The seismic activity in the Walloon Brabant and its relationship with the local and regional geological structure.
   Final Report of BELSPO research project MO/33/028 79 p. (2015)
- [172] Verbeeck, C.JanusWGN, Journal of the International Meteor Organization vol. 43 pp. 1 (2015)
- [173] Verbruggen W., Karatekin Ö., and Van Hove B., *Atmospheric Tides on Mars in the Phoenix Landing Season*, 2015, 5th International Workshop on Mars Atmosphere: Modelling and Observations, 13-16 January 2014, Oxford University, Oxford, UK, 4-page extended abstract available online on http://www-mars.lmd.jussieu.fr/oxford2014/program.htm
- [174] Yseboodt M., Baland R.-M., Van Hoolst T., and Rivoldini A.,
  Equilibrium Obliquity of Mercury: Effect of the inner core and the pericenter,
  2015, EPSC 2015, Nantes, France, poster, Session TP2 on "Mercury", EPSC2015-485, 27
  September-2 October 2015

# **Other publications**

- [175] Alvarez, R., Cuypers, J. et al. Waarnemingsnacht Perseïden, Nuit d'Observation des Perseïdes Text distributed at the occasion of the Night of the Shooting Stars, ROB, 12/08/2015
- [176] Dehant V.,Habiter sur une lune du système solaire ?,2015, livre de poche de l'académie royale de Belgique, 141 pages.
- [177] Janssens, J.; Vanlommel, P.; Verbeeck, C.; Berghmans, D. Onderzoek naar de zonnecorona Zenit vol. maart pp. 30-31 (2015)
- [178] Martinez Picar, A.
  5 historias por las que 2015 fue un año extraordinario en exploración espacial BBC Mundo Website (2015)
- [179] Jean Meeus, Thierry Pauwels en Geert Vandenbulcke De nadering van planetoïde (357439) 2004 BL86 tot de Aarde,. Heelal, March 2015
- [180] Pauwels, T., Bruyninx, C., Cuypers, J., Roosbeek, F., Annuaire de l'Observatoire royal de Belgique – Jaarboek van de Koninklijke Sterrenwacht van België 2016, Fedopress, ISSN 03734900
- [181] Van Noten K., Lecocq T., Camelbeeck T. De aardbevingszwerm tussen 2008 en 2010 te Court-Saint-Etienne: 237 aardbevingen in 1,5 jaar tijd Science Connection 49, 28-31 (2015).
- [182] Koen Van Noten, Thomas Lecocq, Thierry Camelbeeck L'essaim sismique de Court-Saint-Etienne entre 2008 et 2010: 237 seismes en 1 an et demi Science Connection 49, 28-31 (2015).
- [183] Verbeeck, C.; Gissot, S.; Berghmans, D.; Stegen, K.; Kraaikamp, E.; Giordanengo, B.; BenMoussa, A.
   Au plus près du Soleil. Solar Orbiter, première mission vers le Soleil Science Connection vol. 49 pp. 40--44 (2015)
- [184] Verbeeck, C.; Gissot, S.; Berghmans, D.; Stegen, K.; Kraaikamp, E.; Giordanengo, B.; BenMoussa, A.
   DE ZON – VAN DICHTERBIJ DAN OOIT Solar Orbiter, eerste missie naar de zon Science Connection vol. 49 pp. 40--44 (2015)

# Annex 2: Human Resources

# Algemeen directeur: Van der Linden Ronald

#### A.1. Vastbenoemd personeel / Personnel statutaire

#### Wetenschappelijk personeel / Personnel scientifique

Name/Nom	Functie/Fonction
Alexandre Pierre	Premier assistant
Alvarez Rodrigo	Premier assistant
Berghmans David	Eerstaanwezend werkleider
Blomme Ronny	Werkleider
Bruyninx Carine	Eerstaanwezend werkleider
Camelbeeck Thierry	Chef de travaux principal
Clette Frédéric	Premier assistant
Collin Fabienne	Premier assistant
Cuypers Jan	Eerstaanwezend werkleider
De Cat Peter	Werkleider
Defraigne Pascale	Chef de travaux principal
Dehant Véronique	Maître de recherches
Frémat Yves	Premier assistant
Groenewegen Martin	Werkleider
Hochedez Jean-François	Chef de travaux
Lampens Patricia	Onderzoeksleider
Lecocq Thomas	Assistant
Legrand Juliette	Premier assistant
Pauwels Thierry	Eerstaanwezend werkleider
Robbrecht Eva	Assistant
Roosbeek Fabian	Premier assistant
Van Camp Michel	Chef de travaux principal
Van De Steene Griet	Werkleider
Van Hoolst Tim	Eerstaanwezend werkleider
Vanneste Kris	Werkleider
Yseboodt Marie	Premier assistant

#### Technisch en administratief personeel / Personnel technique et administratif

	Name/Nom	Functie/Fonction
<u>A</u> :	Milis Andre	Adviseur A3
	De Knijf Marc	Attaché A3
	Dufond Jean-Luc	Attaché A2
	Rogge Vincent	Attaché A2
	Jans Thimoty	Attaché A1
	Kochuyt Anne-Lize	Attaché A1
	Rapagnani Giovanni	Attaché A1
	Rezabek Oleg	Attaché A1
	Wellens Véronique	Attaché A1
<u>B :</u>	Boulvin Olivier	Expert technique
	Bukasa Baudouin	Expert technique
	Castelein Stefaan	Technisch deskundige
	Claerhout Alexandre	Expert ICT
	Dumortier Louis	Expert ICT
	Duval David	Expert ICT
	Ergen Aydin	Expert technique
	Frederick Bert	Expert technique

+ + L M M S S V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	Hendrickx Marc Herreman David Langenaken Hilde Lemaitre Olivier Martin Henri Mesmaker Dominique Moyaert Ann Somerhausen André Strubbe Marc Van Camp Lydia Van De Putte William Van Der Gucht Ignace Vandekerckhove Joan Vandercoilden Leslie Van de Meersche Olivier Vermeiren Katinka Vermeylen Lore Wintmolders Sabrina Bizerimana Philippe Brebant Christian Bruyninckx Martine Consiglio Sylvia	Expert technique Expert ICT Technisch deskundige Expert technique Expert technique Expert technique ICT deskundige Expert ICT Technisch deskundige Technisch deskundige Technisch deskundige Technisch deskundige Expert technique Expert financier ICT deskundige Technisch deskundige Expert financier ICT deskundige Technisch deskundige Administratief deskundige Administratief deskundige Administratief assistent Administratief assistent
E	Bruyninckx Martine	Administratief assistent
с Г	Jenasse Béatrice	Auministratier assistent
	De Wachter Rudi	Technisch assistent
F	Feldberg Liesbeth	Administratief assistent
S	Segers Cindy	Adminstratief assistent
Т	Frocmet Cécile	Assistant administratif
١	Vanden Elshout Ronny	Assistant technique
<u>D:</u> \	, Vanparijs Thomas	Technisch medewerker

#### A.2. Personeel met externe beurzen / Personnel sur bourses externes

Name/Nom	Functie/Fonction
Gloesener Elodie	Boursier FRIA

# A.3.Contractueel personeel beheerd door de POD Wetenschapsbeleid / Personnel contractuel géré par le SPP Politique Scientifique

	<u>Name/Nom</u>	Functie/Fonction
<u>SW11</u>	Katsiyannis Athanassios	Assistant
<u>B :</u>	Malisse Vincent	ICT-deskundige
	Vandersyppe Anne	Administratief expert
<u>C :</u>	De Dobbeleer Rudy	Technisch assistant
	Mouling Ilse	Administratief assistent
<u>D :</u>	Semeraro Vanessa	Administratief assistant
	Sinchiri Kevin	Administratief assistant
	Inkeleer Jérémy	Collaborateur technique
	Motte Philippe	Collaborateur technique
	Rodriguez Carolina	Collaborateur technique

### A.4.Contractueel personeel / Personnel contractuel

#### Wetenschappelijk personeel / Personnel scientifique

<u>Naam/Nom</u>	Functie/Fonction
Andries Jesse	Werkleider
Attié Raphaël	Assistant
Baire Quentin	Assistant
Benmoussa Ali	Chef de travaux
Bergeot Nicolas	Chef de travaux
Beuthe Mikael	Chef de travaux
Bonte Katrien	Assistent
Bourgoignie Bram	Assistent
Champagne Georges	Assistant
Chevalier Jean-Marie	Assistant
Dammasch Ingolf	Assistant
Cuyper Jean-Pierre	werkleider
Delouille Véronique	Chef de travaux
Deproost Marie-Hélène	Assistant-stagiaire
Devos Andy	Assistent
D'Huys Elke	Assistent
Dolla Laurent	Assistant
Dominique Marie	Assistant
Gerbal Nicolas	Assistent-stagiaire
Gillmann Cédric	Assistant
Giordanengo Boris	Chef de travaux
Gissot Samuel	Chef de travaux
Janssens Jan	Assistent
Joukov Andrei	Chef de travaux
Huang Wei	Assistant-stagiaire
Karatekin Ozgur	Chef de travux
Knuts Elisabeth	Assistant
Kraaikamp Emil	Assistent
Laguerre Raphael	Assistant
Lefevre Laure	Chef de travaux
Lobel Alex	Werkleider
Lombardini Denis	Assistant
Magdalenic Jasmina	Chef de travaux
Martinez Picar Antonio	Assistent
Marqué Christophe	Chef de travaux
Mierla Marilena	Assistant
Mitrovic Michel	Assistant
Nicolaes Dries	Assistant-stagiaire
Nicula Bogdan	Chef de travaux
Noack Léna	Assistant
Ozdemir Nilüfer Aslihan	Assistant
Parenti Suzanna	Chef de travaux
Péters Marie-Julie	Assistant-stagiaire
Podladchikova Olena	Chef de travaux
Pottiaux Eric	Chef de travaux
Pylyser Eric	Assistant
Rekier Jeremy	Assitant
Ryan Daniel	Assistant

Rivoldini Attilio	Assistant
Rodriguez Luciano	Chef de travaux
Rosenblatt Pascal	Chef de travaux
Stegen Koen	Assistent
Triana Santiago	Assistant
Trinh Anthony	Assistent
Van Hoof Peter	Werkleider
Van Hove Bart	Assistent
Vanlommel Petra	Eerstaanwezend assistent
Van Noten Koen	Assistent
Vansintjan Robbe	Assistent
Verbeeck Francis	Eerstaanwezend assistent
Verbeeck Koen	Assistent
Verdini Andrea	Assistant
Verstringe Freek	Assistent
Vleminckx Bart	Assistent
Wauters Laurence	Chef de travaux
West Matthew	Assistant
Zhu Ping	Assistant

#### Technisch en administratief personeel / personnel technique et administratif

	<u>Naam/Nom</u>	Functie/Fonction
<u>A :</u>	Van Elder Sophie	Attaché A1
	Cornet Denis	Attaché A1
	Mestdagh Pieter	Attaché A1
	De Decker Georges	Attaché A2
	Hanjoul Michel	Attaché A2
	Willems Sarah	Attaché A2
	Mampaey Benjamin	Attaché A2
	Van Hemelryck Eric	Attaché A2
<u>B :</u>	Bastin Véronique	Expert technique
	Coeckelberghs Hans	Technisch deskundige
	Delmeule Nicolas	Expert ICT
	Rigo Ghislain	Expert technique
	Vander Putten Wim	ICT-deskundige
<u>C :</u>	Hernando Ana Maria	Assistant administratif
	Michaux Kevin	Administratief assistant
	Smet Gert	Technisch assistent
	Smetryns Daan	Technisch assistent
	Stokart Luc	Assistant techniquet
	Vandeperre Arnold	Technisch assistent
	Wijns Erik	Technisch medewerker
<u>D :</u>	El Amrani Malika	Collaborateur technique
	Gonzales Andres	Administratief medewerker
	Herman Viviane	Collaborateur technique
	Ipuz Mendez Adriana	Collaborateur technique
	Kurudere Hulya	Technisch medewerker
	Reghif Harraz Mohammed	Collaborateur technique
	Vermeylen Jacqueline	Collaborateur technique
	Verbraeken Ulrike	Technische medewerker

# A.5. Gedetacheerd personeel / Personnel détaché

Naam/Nom	Functie/Fonction
	r unctic/r onetion

Leraar

Duynslaeger Thierry